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Explanatory Note
 

AYRO, Inc., previously known as DropCar, Inc. (the “Company”), is filing this Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated May 28,
2020, and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 29, 2020, solely for the purpose of providing the financial statements and information required by Item
9.01(a) and the pro forma financial information required by Item 9.01(b) in connection with the Company’s previously reported merger (the “Merger”) with AYRO Operating
Company, Inc., previously known as AYRO, Inc. (“AYRO Operating”).
 

As a result of the Merger, the historical financial statements of AYRO Operating will be treated as the historical financial statements of the Company and will be
reflected in the Company’s quarterly and annual reports for periods ending after the effective time of the Merger. Accordingly, beginning with the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2020, the Company will report results of AYRO Operating and the Company on a consolidated basis.

 
Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.
 
 (a) Financial Statements of Business Acquired.

 
The audited consolidated financial statements of AYRO Operating as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, together with the reports of Plante &

Moran, PLLC with respect thereto, are included as Exhibit 99.1 and are incorporated by reference herein. The unaudited consolidated financial statements of AYRO Operating
as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2020 are included as Exhibit 99.2 hereto and are incorporated by reference herein.

 
 (b) Pro Forma Financial Information.

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31 2019 and balance sheets and

statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2020 are included as Exhibit 99.3 hereto and are incorporated by reference herein.
 

 (d) Exhibits.
 

Exhibit No.  Description
23.1  Consent of Plante & Moran, PLLC
99.1  Audited consolidated financial statements of AYRO Operating Company, Inc. as of and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
99.2  Unaudited consolidated financial statements of AYRO Operating Company, Inc. as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2020
99.3  Unaudited pro forma condensed combined consolidated statements of operations of AYRO, Inc. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 and balance

sheets and statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2020
 

  



 
 

SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto
duly authorized.
 
 AYRO, INC.
   
Date: June 3, 2020 By: /s/ Rodney C. Keller, Jr.
  Rodney C. Keller, Jr.
  President and Chief Executive Officer
 
  

 



 
Exhibit 23.1

 
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM’S CONSENT

 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form S-8 (File Nos. 333-128488, 333-158232, 333-216145, 333-225790) and Form S-3 (File Nos.
333-136618, 333-140546, 333-142846, 333-146106, 333-149788, 333-165927, 333-207205, 333-215729, 333-217768, 333-224300, 333-227858, and 333-236330) of AYRO,
Inc. (formerly Austin EV, Inc.) of our report dated March 11, 2020, with respect to our audits of the financial statements of AYRO, Inc. as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and
for the years then ended, which report appears in an exhibit, which is part of this Amendment No. 1 to Form 8-K.
 
/s/ Plante & Moran, PLLC
 
Plante & Moran, PLLC
Denver, Colorado
June 3, 2020
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 AYRO, INC.
 

BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018

 
  2019   2018  
Assets         

Current Assets         
Cash  $ 641,822  $ 39,243 
Accounts Receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $36,084 and $6,985, respectively   71,146   260,231 
Inventories   1,118,516   1,650,605 
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets   164,399   169,055 

         
Total Current Assets   1,995,883   2,119,134 
         
Property and Equipment, net   489,366   725,985 
         
Other Assets   292,881   397,560 
         
Total Assets  $ 2,778,130  $ 3,242,679 
 

SEE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 AYRO, INC.
 

BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018

 
  2019   2018  
Liabilities and Members’ Equity         

Current Liabilities         
Accounts Payable  $ 757,077  $ 2,385,872 
Accrued Expenses   612,136   364,274 
Related Party Payables   15,000   339,202 
Contract Liability   0   9,999 
Notes Payable, Current Portion   1,006,947   6,392 

         
Total Current Liabilities   2,391,160   3,105,739 
         
Notes Payable, net of Current Portion   318,027   28,554 
         
Total Liabilities   2,709,187   3,134,293 
         
Stockholders’ Equity         

Preferred Stock, 7,360,985 and 3,882,791 issued and outstanding, respectively, $1.00 par value   9,025,245   4,270,507 
Common Stock, 14,478,795 and 10,244,945 issued and outstanding, respectively, $0.001 par value   16,683   12,449 
Additional Paid-in-Capital   4,985,659   1,119,381 
Accumulated Deficit   (13,958,644)   (5,293,951)

         
Total Stockholders’ Equity   68,943   108,386 
         
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity  $ 2,778,130  $ 3,242,679 
 

SEE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 AYRO, INC.
 

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

 
  2019   2018  
       
Product Sales Revenue  $ 890,152  $ 5,302,964 
         
Cost of Goods Sold   691,843   5,008,700 
Gross Profit   198,309   294,264 
         
Operating Expenses         

Research and Development   714,281   768,382 
Sales and Marketing   1,300,120   999,724 
General and Administrative   6,678,310   2,578,078 

         
Total Operating Expenses   8,692,711   4,346,184 
         
Loss from Operations   (8,494,402)   (4,051,920)
         
Other Income and Expense         

Other Income   2,188   47 
Interest Expense   (172,479)   (144,618)

         
Net Loss  $ (8,664,693)  $ (4,196,491)
         
Weighted-average fully diluted shares   10,655,957   10,242,650 
         
Net Loss per fully diluted share  $ (0.81)  $ (0.41)
 

SEE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 AYRO, INC.
 

STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

 

  Preferred Stock   Common Stock   Additional      
Total

Stockholders’  

  
Number of

Shares   Amount   
Number of

Shares   Amount   
Paid-in
Capital   

Accumulated
Deficit   Equity (Deficit)  

                      
Balance at January 1, 2018   1,222,500  $ 1,222,500   10,582,445  $ 12,824  $ 533,010  $ (1,097,460)  $ 670,874 
                             
Common Stock Issued   0   0   12,500   125   0   0   125 
                             
Common Stock Redeemed   0   0   (350,000)   (500)   0   0   (500)
                             
Preferred Stock Issued for Cash   2,910,291   3,298,007   0   0   0   0   3,298,007 
                             
Preferred Stock Redeemed   (250,000)   (250,000)   0   0   0   0   (250,000)
                             
Stock-based Compensation   0   0   0   0   586,371   0   586,371 
                             
Net Loss   0   0   0   0   0   (4,196,491)   (4,196,491)
                             
Balance at December 31, 2018   3,882,791  $ 4,270,507   10,244,945  $ 12,449  $ 1,119,381  $ (5,293,951)  $ 108,386 
                             
Common Stock Issued for Cash   0   0   4,233,850   4,234   0   0   4,234 
                             
Preferred Stock Issued for Cash   3,478,194   4,754,738   0   0   0   0   4,754,738 
                             
Discount on Debt Issuance   0   0   0   0   493,552   0   493,552 
                             
Stock-based Compensation   0   0   0   0   3,372,726   0   3,372,726 
                             
Net Loss   0   0   0   0   0   (8,664,693)   (8,664,693)
                             
Balance at December 31, 2019   7,360,985  $ 9,025,245   14,478,795  $ 16,683  $ 4,985,659  $ (13,958,644)  $ 68,943 

 
SEE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 AYRO, INC.
 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

 
  2019   2018  
       
Cash flows from operating activities         

Net Loss  $ (8,664,693)  $ (4,196,491)
         

Adjustments to Net Loss         
Depreciation and amortization   722,566   288,549 
Stock-based compensation expense   3,372,726   586,371 
Amortization of discount on debt   152,243   0 
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable   189,085   (243,311)
(Increase) decrease in inventories   532,089   1,359,680 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets   4,656   335,495 
(Increase) decrease in deposits   (6,917)   (36,841)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable   (391,065)   (650,029)
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses   319,225   307,412 
Increase (decrease) in related party payables   (324,202)   256,789 
Increase (decrease) in deferred income   (9,999)   (372,581)

Net cash used in operating activities   (4,104,286)   (2,364,957)
         
Cash flows from investing activities         

Purchase of property and equipment   (469,834)   (620,965)
Disposals of property and equipment   90,747   0 
Cash paid for patents and other intangible assets   (35,559)   (139,957)
Disposals of intangible assets   40,294   0 

Net cash used in investing activities   (374,352)   (760,922)
         
Cash flows from financing activities         

Proceeds from issuance of notes payable   2,675,000   34,946 
Repayments of notes payable   (116,392)   0 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock   4,234   125 
Disbursements from redemption of common stock   0   (500)
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock   2,518,375   3,298,007 
Disbursements from redemption of preferred stock   0   (250,000)

Net cash provided by financing activities   5,081,217   3,082,578 
         
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   602,579   (43,301)
         
Beginning cash and cash equivalents   39,243   82,544 
         
Ending cash  $ 641,822  $ 39,243 

 
SEE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AYRO, INC.
 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

 
  2019   2018  
Supplemental information         

Interest paid  $ 32,786  $ 144,618 
         
Conversion of $1,065,000 of notes payable and $71,363 of related accrued interest to preferred stock  $ 1,136,363  $ 0 
Conversion of accounts payable to preferred stock  $ 1,100,000  $ 0 
Conversion of accounts payable to notes payable  $ 137,729  $ 0 
Discount on debt from issuance of common stock  $ 493,553  $ 0 
 

SEE NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 AYRO, INC.
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019 and 2018

 
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
AYRO, Inc. (the “Company”), a corporation located outside Austin, Texas, was formed under the laws of the State of Texas on May 17, 2016 as Austin PRT Vehicle, Inc. and
subsequently changed its name to Austin EV, Inc. under an Amended and Restated Articles of Formation filed with the State of Texas on March 9, 2017. On July 24, 2019, the
Company changed its name to AYRO, Inc. and converted its corporate domicile to Delaware. The Company was founded on the basis of promoting resource sustainability. The
Company is principally engaged in manufacturing and sales of environmentally-conscious, minimal-footprint Electric Vehicles (“EV’s”). The all-electric vehicles are typically
sold both directly and to dealers in the United States, Mexico and Canada. The Company also operates a rental fleet of its three-wheel autocycle, partnering with fleet operators
in destination resort communities. The Company is beginning initial stages of operations and is dependent on funding from equity investors. Management plans include
continuing ramping up production and sales of vehicles in 2019 and 2020. Management anticipates additional funding will be required, either through a pending merger
(discussed in next paragraph), additional preferred stock offers or a new equity/debt funding.
 
On December 19, 2019, the Company entered into a material definitive agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) to merge with DropCar, Inc. a Delaware corporation. Subject to
the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, at the closing of the merger, each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock and preferred stock will be converted
into the right to receive shares of DropCar common stock based on an agreed-to exchange ratio. Additionally, upon closing of the merger, certain investors of DropCar are
committed to increasing their equity investment in the combined companies. The merger is expected to close in the first half of 2020.
 
On March 13, 2019, the Company entered into a strategic Definitive Agreement with Club Car, a division of Ingersoll Rand, granting exclusive rights to private-label the AEV
411 light electric truck for resale to its 535 dealer network. Club Car must order a minimum of 500 vehicles over a twelve month period in order to maintain exclusive rights to
the private-label rights of the vehicles. The Company has begun shipping vehicles under this master procurement agreement.
 
Basis of Presentation: The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with General Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) and include the
accounts of AYRO, Inc. In management’s opinion, all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the results of operations, financial position and cash flows for the periods
shown have been made.
 
Revenue Recognition: In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)” (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 amends the
guidance for revenue recognition to replace numerous industry-specific requirements and converges areas under this topic with those of the International Financial Reporting
Standards. The Company adopted the ASU No. 2014-09 for the year ended December 31, 2018. The Company did not record a cumulative effect adjustment to retained
earnings upon adoption and comparable period financial statement amounts have not been adjusted. The Company’s reported results in 2018 would not have been different if
reported under the previous accounting standard.
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AYRO, INC.
 

CONDENSED NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019 and 2018

 
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
Product revenue from customer contracts is recognized on the sale of each electric vehicle as vehicles are shipped to customers. Our vehicle sales orders generally have only one
performance obligation: sale of complete vehicles. Ownership and risk of loss transfers to the customer based on FOB shipping point and freight charges are the responsibility
of the customer. Payments are typically received at the point control transfers or in accordance with payment terms customary to the business. Vehicle product revenue for the
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $787,386 and $1,198,977, respectively. The Company provides product warranties to assure that the product complies with
agreed upon specifications. Customers do not have the option to purchase a warranty separately; as such, warranty is not accounted for as a separate performance obligation.
 
Amounts billed to customers related to shipping and handling are classified as shipping revenue, and the Company has elected to recognize the cost for freight and shipping
when control over vehicles has transferred to the customer as an operating expense. Our policy is to exclude taxes collected from a customer from the transaction price of
automotive contracts. Shipping revenue for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $83,717 and $35,049, respectively.
 
The Company received Non-assembly Revenue from sales of auto parts in the first half of 2018. The Company purchased auto parts and had them drop-shipped directly to its
customer as a one-time transaction. While the Company did not provide any materials handling nor assembly services, the Company is responsible for all inventory and
fulfillment. Non-assembly revenue for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $0 and $4,065,000, respectively.
 
Subscription revenue from revenue sharing with Destination Fleet Operators (“DFO’s”) is recorded in the month the vehicles in the Company’s fleet is rented. The Company
established its rental fleet in late March 2019. For the rental fleet, the Company retains title and ownership to the vehicles and places them in DFO’s in resort communities that
typically rent golf cars for use in those communities. Subscription revenue from revenue sharing activities for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were $11,883 and
$0, respectively.
 
Services and other revenue consist of non-warranty after-sales vehicle services. Service and replacement parts revenue for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were
$7,166 and $3,939, respectively.
 
The Company received revenue from North America sales only. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the United States, Canada and Mexico accounted for 99%, 1% and 0%,
of the Company’s total revenue respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the United States, Canada and Mexico accounted for 95%, 0% and 5% of total revenue,
respectively
 
Payments received in advance of the delivery of vehicles or performance of services are reported in the accompanying balance sheets as contract liability.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents: For purposes of financial statement presentation, the Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments with initial maturities of 90 days or less
to be cash. The Company maintains cash balances which may exceed federally insured limits. Management does not believe that this results in any significant credit risk.
 
Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable are recognized and carried at net realizable value. An allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained and reflects the best estimate of
probable losses determined principally on the basis of historical experience and specific allowances for known troubled accounts. All accounts or portions thereof that are
deemed to be uncollectible or that require an excessive collection cost are written off to the allowance for doubtful accounts. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, management
has determined that an allowance for $36,084 and $6,985, respectively, is reasonable to absorb any losses which may arise. In the event that actual losses differ from our
estimate, the results of future periods may be impacted. All accounts receivables are made on an unsecured basis.
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AYRO, INC.
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019 and 2018

 
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
Inventories: Inventories are reported at the lesser of cost (using the first-in, first-out method “FIFO”) or net realizable value. Inventories consist of purchased chassis, cabs,
batteries, truck beds/boxes, component parts as well as freight, tariffs, duties and other transport-in costs. Inventories are categorized as raw materials, work-in-process and
finished goods as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. Work-in-process and finished goods include labor and overhead costs.
 
Property, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipment are recorded at the original cost and are being depreciated on a straight-line basis over estimated lives of three to
seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life of the assets or the remaining period of the lease, whichever is shorter. Depreciation expense for the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $615,707 and $195,735, respectively.
 
Intangible Assets: Intangible assets consist of the cost in registering patents for the Company’s unique inventions. Such patent-related expenses are recorded at their estimated
fair value on the date of cost encumbrance and are being amortized over estimated life of 5 years. Intangible assets also include investments made with the supply partner, who
is also an investor, for tooling and assembly line configuration. Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $106,859 and $92,814,
respectively.
 
The Company follows FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 360, Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. ASC 360 requires that if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the cost of long-lived assets or asset groups may be impaired, an evaluation of recoverability would be performed by comparing the
estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset to the asset’s carrying value to determine if a write-down to market value would be required. Long-lived
assets or asset groups that meet the criteria in ASC 360 as being held for sale are reflected at the lower of their carrying amount or fair market value, less costs to sell.
Management has determined that there is no impairment as of December 31, 2019.
 
Contract Liability: Customer invoices where payment has been received, yet product has not shipped, and therefore revenue cannot be recognized are recorded as a current
liability under contract liability. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, contract liability was recorded as current liabilities of $0 and $9,999, respectively.
 
Deferred Rent: The Company recognizes the minimum non-contingent rents required under operating leases as rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lives of the leases,
with differences between amounts recognized as expense and the amounts actually paid recorded within the accrued expenses on the accompanying balance sheets. As of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, deferred rent was recorded as current liabilities of $0 and $4,761, respectively.
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AYRO, INC.
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019 and 2018

 
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
Warranties: The Company will record a reserve for warranty repairs upon the initial delivery of vehicles to its dealer network in 2018. The Company provides a product
warranty on each vehicle including powertrain, battery pack and electronics package. Such warranty matches the product warranty provided by its supply chain for warranty
parts for all unaltered vehicles and is not considered a separate performance obligation. The supply chain warranty does not cover warranty-based labor needed to replace a part
under warranty. Warranty reserves include management’s best estimate of the projected cost of labor to repair/replace all items under warranty. The Company reserves a
percentage of all dealer-based sales to cover an industry-standard warranty fund to support dealer labor warranty repairs. Such percentage is recorded as a component of cost of
revenues in the statement of operations. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, warranty reserves were recorded as current liabilities of $27,375 and $16,918, respectively
 
Leases: Operating lease assets are included within operating lease right-of-use assets, and the corresponding operating lease liabilities are included within accrued liabilities and
other for the current portion, and within other long-term liabilities for the long-term portion on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019. Finance lease assets are
included within property, plant and equipment, net, and the corresponding finance lease liabilities are included within current portion of long-term debt and finance leases for
the current portion, and within long-term debt and finance leases, net of current portion for the long-term portion on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019.
 
The Company has elected not to present short-term leases on the consolidated balance sheet as these leases have a lease term of 12 months or less at lease inception and do not
contain purchase options or renewal terms that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise. All other lease assets and lease liabilities are recognized based on the present
value of lease payments over the lease term at commencement date. Because most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate of return, the Company used our incremental
borrowing rate based on the information available at adoption date in determining the present value of lease payments.
 
Stock Based Compensation: The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with the guidance of FASB ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation.
Under the fair value recognition provisions of FASB ASC 718, which requires all stock-based compensation costs to be measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the
award and is recognized as compensation expense ratably over the period the services are rendered, which is generally the option vesting period. The Company uses the Black-
Scholes option pricing method to determine the fair value of stock options and thus determining compensation expense associated with the grant.
 
The Company measures stock-based compensation expense for its non-employees and consultants under FASB ASC 505-50, Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued
to Other than Employees for Acquiring or in Conjunction with Selling Goods and Services”. In accordance with ASC Topic 505-50, these warrants are issued as compensation
for services provided to the Company. The fair value of the equity instrument is charged directly to compensation expense and additional-paid-in capital over the period during
which services are rendered.
 
Net Earnings or Loss per Share: The Company’s computation of earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) includes basic and diluted EPS. Basic EPS is measured as the income (loss)
available to common shareholders divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS is similar to basic EPS but presents the
dilutive effect on a per share basis of potential common shares (e.g., common stock warrants and common stock options) as if they had been converted at the beginning of the
periods presented, or issuance date, if later. Potential common shares that have an anti-dilutive effect (i.e., those that increase income per share or decrease loss per share) are
excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS.
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AYRO, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019 and 2018

 
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
Loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the respective periods. Basic and
diluted loss per common share is the same for all periods presented because all common stock warrants and common stock options outstanding were anti-dilutive.
 
At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company excluded the outstanding warrant and option securities, which entitle the holders thereof to ultimately acquire shares of common
stock, from its calculation of earnings per share, as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.
 
Income Taxes: The Company accounts for income tax using an asset and liability approach, which allows for the recognition of deferred tax benefits in future years. Under the
asset and liability approach, deferred taxes are provided for the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The accounting for deferred income tax calculation represents the management’s best estimate on the most
likely future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns and related future anticipation. A valuation allowance is provided
for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not these items will either expire before the Company is able to realize their benefits, or that future realization is uncertain.
 
The Company evaluates uncertainty in income tax positions based on a more-likely-than-not recognition standard. If that threshold is met, the tax position is then measured at
the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. If applicable, the Company records interest and penalties as a component of income
tax expense.
 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no accruals for uncertain tax positions.
 
Use of Accounting Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management makes these estimates using the best information available at
the time the estimates are made; however, actual results could differ from those estimates.
 
Fair Value Measurements: The Company follows Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 820-10, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The
standard provides a consistent definition of fair value which focuses on an exit price that would be received upon sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
 
The standard also prioritizes, within the measurement of fair value, the use of market-based information over entity specific information and establishes a three-level hierarchy
for fair value measurements based on the nature of inputs used in the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date.
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NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
The three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements is defined as follows:
 
 ● Level 1 – inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets
   
 ● Level 2 – inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or

liability other than quoted prices, either directly or indirectly including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active
   
 ● Level 3 – inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement

 
Categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The carrying amounts reported in the
accompanying financial statements for current assets and current liabilities approximate the fair value because of the immediate or short-term maturities of the financial
instruments. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company did not have any level 2 or level 3 instruments.
 
Concentrations: For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company purchased 95% and 100%, respectively, of its vehicle parts that it assembles from one
supplier, a related entity (Note 13). Any disruption in the operation of this supplier could adversely affect the Company’s operations.
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company had one customer that accounted for approximately 75% of its revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2018, two
customers accounted for approximately 80% of its revenue.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements: In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02 (“ASC 842”), Leases, to require lessees to recognize all leases, with certain
exceptions, on the balance sheet, while recognition on the statement of operations will remain similar to lease accounting under ASC 840. Subsequently, the FASB issued ASU
No. 2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases, ASU No. 2018-11, Targeted Improvements, ASU No. 2018-20, Narrow-Scope Improvements for Lessors, and
ASU 2019-01, Codification Improvements, to clarify and amend the guidance in ASU No. 2016-02. ASC 842 eliminates real estate-specific provisions and modifies certain
aspects of lessor accounting. The Company adopted ASC 842 as of January 1, 2019 using the cumulative effect adjustment approach (“adoption of the new lease standard”). In
addition, the Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new standard, which allowed us to carry forward the
historical determination of contracts as leases, lease classification and not reassess initial direct costs for historical lease arrangements. Accordingly, previously reported
financial statements, including footnote disclosures, have not been recast to reflect the application of the new standard to all comparative periods presented. The adoption did not
have a material effect on the December 31, 2019 financial statements as the company’s leases were expiring or less than twelve months in term. See Note 7.
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NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)” (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 amends the guidance for revenue
recognition to replace numerous industry-specific requirements and converges areas under this topic with those of the International Financial Reporting Standards. The ASU
implements a five-step process for customer contract revenue recognition that focuses on transfer of control, as opposed to transfer of risk and rewards. The amendment also
requires enhanced disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows from contracts and customers. Other major provisions include
the capitalization and amortization of certain contract costs, ensuring the time value of money is considered in the transaction price, and allowing estimates of variable
consideration to be recognized before contingencies are resolved in certain circumstances. The amendments in this ASU are effective for reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2017, and early adoption is prohibited. Entities can transition to the standard either retrospectively or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of the
adoption. The Company adopted the ASU No. 2014-09 for the year ended December 31, 2018. The adoption of the ASU did not have a material effect on the Company’s
financial statements.
 
Going Concern: The Company’s financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities
in the normal course of business. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going
concern. Management’s plans include completing a reverse merger with DropCar, Inc., a Delaware corporation under a merger agreement signed on December 19, 2019. Upon
closing of the merger, certain investors of DropCar are committed to increasing their equity investment in the combined companies. Such equity investment is expected to
support the Company’s operations for at least fifteen months. The merger is expected to close in the first half of 2020. Additionally, the Company will continue to raise capital
through additional funding sources, growing its dealer channel base to increase product sales revenue, and expanding its product portfolio offerings. If the Company cannot
achieve its operating plan, the Company may find it necessary to dispose of assets or undertake other actions, as may be appropriate.
 
NOTE 2 – ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
 
Accounts receivable at December 31, 2019 and 2018 consist of amounts due from invoices issued and product delivered to various customers. The components of accounts
receivable are:
 

  2019   2018  
       
Billed Receivables  $ 107,230  $ 267,216 
Less Allowance for Doubtful Accounts   (36,084)   (6,985)
         
Total  $ 71,146  $ 260,231 

 
All billed receivable amounts are expected to be collected during this fiscal year.
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NOTE 3 – INVENTORIES
 
Inventories for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were summarized as follows:
 

  2019   2018  
       
Raw Material  $ 554,913  $ 979,277 
Work-in-Process   64,631   42,694 
Finished Goods   498,971   628,634 
         
Total Inventories  $ 1,118,515  $ 1,650,605 

 
NOTE 4 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
 
Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31, 2019 and 2018:
 

  2019   2018  
       
Computers and Equipment  $ 520,586  $ 514,477 
Furniture and Fixtures   111,347   105,634 
Leasehold Improvements   117,897   12,302 
Prototypes   218,682   297,447 
Rental Fleet   272,116   0 
Computer Software   54,516   4,516 
   1,295,144   934,376 
         
Less Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization   (805,778)   (208,391)
         
Net Property and Equipment  $ 489,366  $ 725,985 

 
Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $615,707 and $195,735 respectively
 
NOTE 5 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 
Intangible assets consisted of the following at December 31, 2019:
 

  Cost   
Accumulated
Amortization   Net Book Value   

Average Useful Life
(years)

            
Supply-chain development  $ 395,248  $ 193,126  $ 202,122  4-5
Patent costs   56,047   14,044   42,003  4-10
               
  $ 451,295  $ 207,170  $ 244,125   
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NOTE 5 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
 
Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $106,859 and $92,814 respectively. The definite lived intangible assets have no residual value at
the end of their useful lives. Estimated amortization expense for the next five years as of December 31, 2019 is as follows:
 

2019  $ 112,824 
2020  $ 105,327 
2021  $ 21,004 
2022  $ 4,970 
  $ 244,125 

 
NOTE 6 – AMOUNTS PAYABLE – RELATED PARTY
 
The Company had received short-term expense advances from its founders. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the amounts outstanding were $15,000 for both periods ended.
 
The Company had financed the purchase of factory tooling for one of its vehicles with the Company’s supplier, Cenntro Automotive Group who currently owns approximately
13.7% of the stock of the company on a fully-diluted basis. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the amounts outstanding for factory tooling were $0 and $324,202, respectively.
In December 2019, Cenntro agreed to convert $1,100,000 of trade accounts payable due from the Company to 1,100,000 shares of the Company’s Series Seed 3 preferred
stock. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the amounts outstanding to Cenntro Automotive Group for trade accounts payable were $83,955 and $2,149,295, respectively.
 
In October 2019, the Company received term loan from a founding board member as reported in Note 8 – Debt.
 
NOTE 7 – LEASES
 
In 2019 the Company entered into a new lease agreement for office and manufacturing space. The lease commencement date was January 2020. In connection with the adoption
of Topic 842, the Company has elected to treat the lease and non-lease components as a single component. In addition, the Company has elected to not record short-term leases
as a right to use asset and corresponding lease liability.
 
Upon commencement of a long term office and manufacturing space lease in January 2020, the Company will record supplemental balance sheet information related to leases
was as follows:
 
 

Operating Leases  Classification    
Right-of-use assets  Operating lease assets  $ 1,210,680 
       
Current lease liabilities  Current operating lease liabilities  $ 202,342 
Non-current lease liabilities  Long-term operating lease liabilities  $ 1,008,338 
    $ 1,210,680 
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NOTE 7 – LEASES (Continued)
 
In determining the net present value of the future lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset, the following assumptions were used:
 

Remaining lease term (years)   7.17 
Incremental borrowing rate applied   10.41%

 
The following is a schedule for the next seven years and thereafter of future minimum rental payments required under the operating leases that have an initial or remaining non-
cancelable lease term in excess of one year as of December 31, 2019:
 

2020  $ 241,036 
2021  $ 275,065 
2022  $ 281,422 
2023  $ 287,969 
2024  $ 294,713 
Thereafter  $ 662,144 

 
Total rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $256,957 and $166,248, respectively.
 
NOTE 8 – DEBT
 
In the third quarter of 2019, the Company received cash in exchange for term loans from five individual lenders, totaling $250,000. Additionally, one lender holding convertible
debt, as reported in Note 9 below, converted $100,000 of principle to a term loan. In the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company received cash of $75,000 in exchange for a term
loan from an individual lender. The terms for the notes were for twelve months, with twelve percent (12%) interest payable quarterly. The Company issued 1.056 shares of the
Company’s common stock to the lenders for each dollar borrowed for an aggregate of 369,600 shares of common stock. A discount on debt related to the common stock
issuance of $187,675 was recorded and is being amortized over the life of the notes. In December 2019, $425,000 of principal and associated interest were converted to 433,819
shares of the Company’s Series Seed 3 preferred stock.
 
In October 2019, the Company received $500,000 under a 120-day bridge term loan bearing interest at the rate of 14% per annum, payable quarterly, from Mark Adams, a
founding board member. As an inducement for the bridge loan, the Company granted Mr. Adams 528,000 shares of common stock. On December 13, 2019, Mr. Adams agreed
to extend the maturity date for this loan until April 30, 2021 in exchange for the Company’s issuance of 500,000 shares of common stock. A discount on debt of $343,746 was
recorded in the transaction and is being amortized over the life of the debt.
 
In December 2019, a local marketing firm agreed to convert 90% of trade accounts payable the Company owed that firm to a term loan with a principal amount of $137,729.03
and bearing interest at the rate of 15% per annum, payable quarterly, with a maturity date of May 31, 2021. The Company also issued the marketing firm 66,000 shares of
common stock in conjunction with this term loan. A discount on debt of $46,683 was recorded in the transaction and is being amortized over the life of the debt.
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NOTE 9 – CONVERTIBLE DEBT
 
In the first quarter of 2019, the Company received cash in exchange for convertible promissory notes from seven individual lenders, totaling $800,000. The terms for the notes
were sixty (60) days with an additional sixty-day extension to be exercised at the discretion of the Company. The notes accrued interest at twelve (12%) for the first sixty days
and at fifteen percent (15%) for the sixty-day extension. The lenders have the option to convert the notes and accrued interest for Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock at $1.75 per
share before the sixty-day extension period has expired. In May 2019, four lenders converted $350,000 of principal and $9,062 of accrued interest into 205,178 of the
Company’s Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock. In September 2019, one lender converted $100,000 of convertible notes to a twelve-month term loan identified in Note 8 above.
Additionally, two lenders redeemed $60,000 principle from their outstanding note. Warrants to purchase up to 97,500 of AYRO’s common stock at a price of $2.00 per share
were issued in connection with the notes. The warrants issued have a five-year life. Interest expense associated with the warrants for the year ended December 31, 2019 and
2018 was $36,332 and $0, respectively. A discount on debt related to the warrant issuance of $69,173 was recorded and is being amortized over the life of the notes. In
December 2019, the remaining $290,000 in principal and associated accrued interest was converted to 343,482 shares of the Company’s Series Seed 3 preferred stock. For the
year ended December 31, 2019, interest expense of $28,352 was recorded to reflect the beneficial conversion feature of the debt.
 
In the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company received cash in exchange for convertible promissory notes from five institutional lenders totaling $1,000,000. The maturity date of
the notes is the earlier of (1) the closing of the merger, (2) May 31, 2020, or (3) ninety (90) days the Company determines not to proceed with the merger. The notes accrued
interest at five percent (5%). Immediately prior to the consummation of the merger transaction, the outstanding principal and accrued interest will convert into the number of
shares of the Company that will be exchangeable for such number of shares of DropCar, such that upon closing of the merger, will represent 7.45% of the issued and
outstanding shares of the combined companies.
 
Future maturities of debt are as follows:
 

Year Ended December 31,  Amount  
    
2020  $ 1,006,947 
2021  $ 645,276 
2022  $ 8,202 
2023  $ 5,859 
Total Debt  $ 1,666,284 
Less: Debt Discount  $ (341,310)
Subtotal  $ 1,324,974 
Less: Current Portion  $ (1,006,947)
Long Term Debt  $ 318,027 
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NOTE 10 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 
Preferred Stock: The Company is authorized to issue 8,472,500 shares of preferred stock, no par value, of which 3,272,500 shares were designated as Series Seed-1 Preferred
Stock, 2,200,000 shares were designated as Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock and 3,000,000 shares were designated as Series Seed-3 Preferred Stock. As of December 31, 2019,
3,272,500 shares of Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock, 1,907,683 shares of Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock and 2,180,802 shares of Series Seed-3 Preferred Stock were issued and
outstanding.
 
The Series Seed Preferred Stock is convertible at any time after issuance at the option of the holder into the Company’s Common Stock on a 1-for-1 basis. The Series Seed
Preferred Stock is also subject to mandatory conversion provisions upon either (i) immediately prior to the closing off a firm commitment underwritten initial public offering
pursuant to an effective registration statement filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended covering the offer and sale of the Company’s Common Stock; or, (ii) upon the
receipt by the Company of a written request for such conversion from the holders of a majority of the Preferred Stock then outstanding. In the event the outstanding shares of
Common Stock are subdivided (by stock split, stock dividend, reverse split or otherwise), the shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock will be adjusted ratably to maintain each
share’s ownership percentage. The Series Seed Preferred Stock Stockholders are entitled to equal voting rights to common stockholders on an as-converted basis and receive
preference to common stockholders upon liquidation. During the first two quarters of 2018, 2,300,000 shares of Series Seed 1 Preferred Stock were sold for $1.00 per share for
a cash proceeds of $2,300,000. Of these shares, 80,000 shares were issued to a related party. Also, during the first two quarters of 2018, 250,000 shares of Series Seed 1
Preferred Stock were redeemed for $1.00 per share for cash of $250,000. During the last two quarters of 2018, 210,291 shares of Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock were sold for
$1.75 per share for a cash proceeds of $368,000. Additionally, 400,000 shares of Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock were sold for $1.58 per share for a cash proceeds of $630,007.
During the first half of 2019, 1,092,215 shares of Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock were sold for $1.75 per share for a cash proceeds of $1,911,375. During the second quarter of
2019, 238,500 shares of Series Seed 3 Preferred Stock were sold for $2.00 per share for a cash proceeds of $477,000. During the third quarter of 2019, 65,000 shares of Series
Seed 3 Preferred Stock were sold for $2.00 per share for a cash proceeds of $130,000. During the fourth quarter of 2019, 777,301 shares of Series Seed 3 Preferred Stock were
issued at $1.00 per share in exchange for cancellation of $777,301 of notes payable and accrued interest. Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2019, 1,100,000 shares of
Series Seed 3 Preferred Stock were issued at $1.00 per share in exchange for cancellation of $1,100,000 of trade accounts payable from a single supplier.
 
Common Stock: The Company is authorized to issue 34,820,000 shares of Common Stock, par value $0.001 as of December 31, 2019. As of December 31, 2019, 14,478,795
shares were issued and outstanding.
 
On February 1, 2017, the Company executed a 10-for-1 stock split on all authorized, issued and outstanding shares of stock.
 
On February 7, 2017, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) with Cenntro Automotive Group (“Cenntro”) to purchase 3,000,000 shares of the
company’s Common Stock at $0.15 per share. As consideration, the Company received $50,000 in cash, $92,061 of inventory and $307.939 of assembly line design, setup and
tooling which is being used to mass-produce the Company’s 411 electric vehicle.
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NOTE 10 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Continued)
 
On December 16, 2019, the Company issued 66,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to a local marketing firm as an incentive for the conversion of 90% of trade
accounts payable the Company owed that firm into a term loan. See marketing firm term loan disclosed in Note 8 – Debt.
 
The Company has reserved a total of 6,410,000 shares of its Common Stock pursuant to the Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) (see Note 11). The Company has 3,655,000
stock options outstanding under this plan as of December 31, 2019.
 
NOTE 11 – STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS
 
Long Term Incentive Plan: The Company grants stock options and warrants pursuant to the 2017 Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) effective January 1, 2017. The Company
measures employee stock-based awards at grant-date fair value and recognizes employee compensation expense on a straight-line method basis over the vesting period of the
award. Grants to non-employees are expensed at the earlier of (i) the date at which a commitment for performance by the service provider to earn the equity instrument is
reached and (ii) the date at which the service provider’s performance is complete.
 
Determining the appropriate fair value of the stock-based awards requires the input of subjective assumptions, including the fair value of the Company’s common stock, and for
stock options, the expected life of the option, and the expected stock price volatility. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value its stock option awards.
As a result, if factors change and different assumptions are used, stock-based compensation expense could be materially different for future awards.
 
The Company uses the following inputs when valuing stock-based awards. The expected life of the employee stock options was estimated using the “simplified method”, as the
Company has no historical information to develop reasonable expectations about future exercise patterns and employment duration for its stock option grants. The simplified
method is based on the average of the vesting tranches and the contractual life of each grant. The expected life of awards that vest immediately use the contractual maturity
since they are vested when issued. For stock price volatility, the valuation firm uses public company compatibles and historical private placement data as a basis for its expected
volatility to calculate the fair value of option grants. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury notes with a term approximating the expected life of the option at the
grant-date.
 
Stock-based compensation as a result of stock option awards is included in the statement of operations as follows for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:
 

  2019   2018  
       
Research and development  $ (40,828)  $ 140,877 
Sales and marketing  $ 46,723  $ 10,542 
General and administrative  $ 280,827  $ 345,921 
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NOTE 11 – STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
 
See below for the weighted average variables used in assessing the fair value at the grant dates:
 

  2019   2018  
       
Expected life (years)   3.0   3.0 
Risk-free interest rate   1.62%  2.46%
Expected volatility   71.0%  73.2%
Total grant date fair value  $ 0.94  $ 0.64 

 
Total compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recognized as of December 31, 2019 was $894,377 and will be recognized on a straight-line basis through the end
of the vesting periods in 2021. Future stock option compensation expense related to these options to be recognized during the years ending December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022
is expected to be approximately $465,349, $281,142 and $147,887, respectively. The amount of future stock option compensation expense could be affected by any future option
grants or by any forfeitures.
 
The following table reflects the stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
 

  Number of Shares   
Weighted Average

Exercise Price   
Contractual Life

(Years)  
          
Outstanding at January 1, 2018   1,815,000  $ 0.667   5.82 
             
Granted   1,890,000   0.667   5.79 
Exercised   0         
Forfeitures   405,000   0.667   5.83 
             
Outstanding at December 31, 2018   3,300,000  $ 0.667   5.80 
             
Granted   3,265,000   0.966   5.56 
Exercised   0         
Cancellations   1,750,000   0.841   5.61 
Forfeitures   1,160,000   0.841   5.61 
             
Outstanding at December 31, 2019   3,655,000  $ 0.796   5.73 

 
Of the outstanding options, 1,840,359 and 1,181,664 were vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

 
As of December 31, 2019 2,755,000 options are still issuable under the LTIP.

 
Warrants: The Company grants stock warrants pursuant to the 2017 Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) effective January 1, 2017. The Company measures consultant and
debtholder stock-based awards at grant-date fair value and recognizes contractor consulting expense for contractor warrants and interest expense for debtholder warrants on a
straight-line method basis over the vesting period of the award. Grants to consultants are expensed at the earlier of (i) the date at which a commitment for performance by the
service provider to earn the equity instrument is reached and (ii) the date at which the service provider’s performance is complete. Grants to debtholders are expensed on a
straight-line basis over the term of the debt facility.
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NOTE 11 – STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
 
Determining the appropriate fair value of the warrants requires the input of subjective assumptions, including the fair value of the Company’s common stock, the expected life
of the warrant, and the expected stock price volatility. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value its warrants granted. The assumptions used in
calculating the fair value of warrant grants are based on periodic valuations performed by an independent third-party valuation firm. As a result, if factors change and different
assumptions are used, stock-based compensation expense could be materially different for future awards.
 
The Company uses the following inputs when valuing stock-based awards. Warrants to purchase the Company’s common stock granted to consultants are granted based on a
five (5) year life. For stock price volatility, the valuation firm uses public company compatibles and historical private placement data as a basis for its expected volatility to
calculate the fair value of option grants. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury notes with a term approximating the expected life of the option at the grant-date.
 
Stock-based compensation, for warrants is included in the statement of operations as follows for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:
 

  2019   2018  
         
General and administrative  $ 448,608  $ 89,031 

 
See below for the weighted average variables used in assessing the fair value at the grant dates:
 

  2019   2018  
       
Expected life (years)   5.0   5.0 
Risk-free interest rate   1.62%  2.46%
Expected volatility   73.2%  73.2%
Total grant date fair value  $ 0.94  $ 0.64 
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NOTE 11 – STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
 
The following table reflects the stock warrant activity for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
 

  Number of Shares   
Weighted Average

Exercise Price   
Contractual Life

(Years)  
Outstanding at January 1, 2018   0  $ —   — 
             
Granted   473,000   2.00   5.00 
Exercised   0   —     
Forfeitures   0   —   — 
             
Outstanding at December 31, 2018   473,000  $ 2.00   5.00 
             
Granted   1,220,000   2.00   5.00 
Exercised   0   —     
Forfeitures   0   —   — 
             
Outstanding at December 31, 2019   1,693,000  $ 2.00   5.00 

 
Of the outstanding warrants, all 1,693,000 and 473,000 were vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Consulting expense of $412,277

and $89,031 was recorded in connection with of warrants for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Additionally, interest expense of $188,575 and $0 was
recorded in connection with of warrants for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
 
Stock Grants: In October 2019, the Company granted 850,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to Sustainability Initiatives, LLC, an entity controlled by two of the
Company’s founding board members as compensation for the termination of the consulting agreement with that entity. Stock-based compensation of $908,650 was recorded in
the transaction.
 
In October, 2019, the Company granted 528,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to Mark Adams, a founding board member, as consideration in providing a $500,000
150-day term loan to the Company. In December, 2019, the Company granted an additional 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to Mr. Adams as consideration for
extending the term date of the loan to April 30, 2021. A discount on debt of $343,746 was recorded in the transaction.
 
In December 2019, the Company granted 1,593,550 shares of the Company’s common stock to Sustainability Initiatives, LLC and two of the Company’s founding board
members as compensation for cancelling options to purchase 1,750,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Stock-based compensation of $1,496,343 was recorded in the
transaction.
 
In December 2019, The Company granted 247,500 shares of common stock as compensation for consulting services to Sustainability Consultants, LLC, an entity that is
controlled by Mark Adams, Will Steakley and John Constantine, who are principal stockholders of the Company. Stock-based compensation of $232,403 was recorded in the
transaction.
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NOTE 11 – STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
 
The Company measures stock grants at grant-date fair value and recognizes contractor consulting expense on a straight-line method basis over the vesting period of the award.
Grants to non-employees are expensed at the earlier of (i) the date at which a commitment for performance by the service provider to earn the equity instrument is reached and
(ii) the date at which the service provider’s performance is complete. The fair value of the stock grants was determined based on the fair market value of the Company’s
common stock as determined by an independent third-party valuation firm.
 
Stock-based compensation, for stock grants is included in the statement of operations as follows for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:
 

  2019   2018  
         
General and administrative  $ 2,637,396  $ 0 

 
NOTE 12- INCOME TAXES
 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 are summarized below:
 

  2019   2018  
       
Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 8,768,915  $ 4,435,740 
Basis of property and equipment   487,356   155,735 
Other   4,147,079   593,011 
Total gross deferred tax assets   13,403,350   5,184,486 
Less valuation allowance   (13,403,350)   (5,184,486)
         
Net deferred tax assets  $ 0  $ 0 

 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, management was unable to determine if the Company’s deferred tax assets would be realized, and if realized, unable to determine the
timing and the effective tax rates that they would be determined. The Company has therefore recorded a valuation allowance of $13,403,350 and $5,184,486 for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Additionally, the Company had Net Operating Losses of $8,768,915 and $3,839,550 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively.
 
No federal tax provision has been provided for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 due to the losses incurred during such periods.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019 and 2018

 
NOTE 13 – RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 
On March 1, 2017, the Company entered into a royalty-based agreement with Sustainability Initiatives, LLC (“SI”) that is controlled by two of the three Company board
members in the effort to accelerate the start-up of the Company’s operations. In return for acceleration assistance and for serving the Chief Visionary Officer role, the agreement
pays a monthly retainer of $6,000 per month. Additionally, options to purchase 350,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were issued with an option price of $0.67 per
share, vesting semi-annually over a three-year period. On a quarterly basis, the Company remitted a royalty of a percentage (see table below) of company revenues less the
retainer amounts for the measurement quarter paid to date.
 

Revenues  
Royalty

Percentage  
    
$0 - $25,000,000   3.0%
$25,000,000 - $50,000,000   2.0%
$50,000,000 - $100,000,000   1.0%
Over $100,000,001   0.5%

 
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company agreed to an amendment with SI to reduce the royalty percentage to 0.5%. In relation to this amendment, the Company granted the SI
members an additional 1,400,000 LTIP stock options to vest over a six-month vesting term. On October 15, 2019 the Company and the SI members agreed to terminate the
agreement in full in exchange for 850,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Stock-based compensation of $908,650 was recorded on the transaction in October 2019 on
the statement of operations as consulting expenses within the general and administrative section.
 
On December 9, 2019, the Company and the SI members agreed to cancel the outstanding options to purchase 1,750,000 shares of the Company’s common stock in exchange
for 1,593,550 shares of the Company’s common stock. Stock-based compensation of $1,496,343 was recorded for the transaction in December 2019 on the statement of
operations as consulting expenses within the general and administrative section.
 
On April 1, 2017, the Company entered into a fee-for-service agreement with SI. In return for accounting, marketing, graphics and other services, the Company pays fixed,
market-standard hourly rates under the shared services agreement as services are rendered. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had a balance outstanding to SI
for $12,150 and $6,623, respectively. Total expenses paid or payable SI were $61,275 and $224,188 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
 
In 2017, the Company executed a supply chain contract with Cenntro, a manufacturer located in the Peoples’ Republic of China. Currently, the Company purchases 100% of its
vehicle chassis, cabs and wheels through this supply chain relationship with Cenntro. Contract terms are industry standard and represent arms-length market pricing. The
Company must sell a minimum number of units in order to maintain its exclusive supply chain contract. The company is in default of the exclusive term of the contract;
however, the default has been waived.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2019 and 2018

 
NOTE 13 – RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
 
In January 2019, the Company entered into a fee-for-service consulting agreement with Sustainability Consultants, LLC, an entity that is controlled by Mark Adams, Will
Steakley and John Constantine, who are principal stockholders of the Company. In exchange for consulting services provided, paid $189,238 in consulting fees to the firm.
Additionally, the Company granted warrants to purchase 652,500 shares of the Company’s common stock. The warrants have an exercise price of $2.00 per share with a five-
year life. Stock-based compensation consulting expense of $260,733 was recorded in the general and administrative expenses on the statement of operations in 2019 in
conjunction with the warrant grant. The Company also granted 247,500 shares of the Company’s common stock and recorded stock-based compensation of $232,403 related to
the common stock transaction.
 
In October, 2019, the Company granted 528,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to Mark Adams, a founding board member, as consideration in providing a $500,000
150-day term loan to the Company. In December, 2019, the Company granted an additional 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to Mr. Adams as consideration for
extending the term date of the loan to April 30, 2021. A discount on debt of $343,746 was recorded in the transaction
 
In December 2019, Cenntro agreed to convert $1,100,000 of trade accounts payable due from the Company to 1,100,000 shares of the Company’s Series Seed 3 preferred stock
 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the amounts outstanding to Cenntro for factory tooling were $0 and $324,202, respectively. Additionally, as of December 31, 2019 and
2018, the amounts outstanding to Cenntro for trade accounts payable were $83,955 and $2,149,295, respectively.
 
NOTE 14 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 
Management has evaluated subsequent events for disclosure in these financial statements through March 6, 2020, which is the date the financial statements were available to be
issued and has not identified any material events requiring disclosure other than identified below.
 
In the two months ended February 2019, the Company issued notes payable to 3 institutions providing $500,000 of short-term financing. The notes are to be repaid upon the
earlier of (1) closing date of the merger or (2) May 20, 2020. The notes carry an interest rate of seven percent (7%). The notes carry with them 100% warrant coverage to
purchase the Company’s Common Stock.
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 AYRO, INC.

 
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019
 

  
March 31, 2020 

(Unaudited)   December 31, 2019  
Assets         

Current Assets         
Cash  $ 68,940  $ 641,822 
Accounts Receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of 
$38,778 and $36,084 as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 
2019, respectively   166,680   71,146 
Inventories   1,068,187   1,118,516 
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets   278,556   164,399 

         
Total Current Assets   1,582,363   1,995,883 
         
Property and Equipment, net   490,855   489,366 
         
Right-of-Use Asset, net   1,190,963   0 
         
Other Assets   265,202   292,881 
         
Total Assets  $ 3,529,383  $ 2,778,130 
 

SEE NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 AYRO, INC.
 

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019

 

  
March 31, 2020 

(Unaudited)   December 31, 2019  
Liabilities and Members’ Equity         

Current Liabilities         
Accounts Payable  $ 879,101  $ 757,077 
Accrued Expenses   1,040,011   612,136 
Related Party Payables   15,000   15,000 
Contract Liability   71,404   0 
Notes Payable, Current Portion   1,507,092   1,006,947 
Lease Liability, Current Portion   229,977   0 

         
Total Current Liabilities   3,742,585   2,391,160 
Notes Payable, net of Current Portion and Discount on Debt   379,942   318,027 
Lease Liability, net of Current Portion   976,607   0 
         
Total Long Term Liabilities   1,356,549   2,709,187 
Total Liabilities   5,099,134   2,709,187 
         
Stockholders’ Equity         

Preferred Stock, 7,360,985 issued and outstanding, respectively for both periods, $1.00 par value   9,025,245   9,025,245 
Common Stock, 14,478,795 issued and outstanding for both periods, $0.001 par value   16,683   16,683 
Additional Paid-in-Capital   5,142,118   4,985,659 
Accumulated Deficit   (15,753,797)   (13,958,644)

         
Total Stockholders’ Equity   (1,569,751)   68,943 
         
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity  $ 3,529,383  $ 2,778,130 
 

SEE NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 AYRO, INC.
 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 (Unaudited)

 
  2020   2019  
       
Product Sales Revenue  $ 146,816  $ 83,951 
         
Cost of Goods Sold   113,155   66,768 
Gross Profit   33,661   17,183 
         
Operating Expenses         

Research and Development   154,699   199,734 
Sales and Marketing   319,454   202,187 
General and Administrative   1,249,052   783,194 

         
Total Operating Expenses   1,723,205   1,185,115 
         
Loss from Operations   (1,689,544)   (1,167,932)
         
Other Income and Expense         

Other Income   16   28 
Interest Expense   (105,625)   (95,185)

         
Net Loss  $ (1,795,153)  $ (1,263,089)
         
Weighted-average Shares used in computing diluted net loss per share   14,478,795   10,244,945 
         
Net Loss per common share  $ (0.12)  $ (0.12)
 

SEE NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 AYRO, INC.
 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and as of December 31, 2018

And the three months ended March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019
 

  Preferred Stock   Common Stock   Additional      
Total

Stockholders’  

  
Number of

Shares   Amount   
Number of

Shares   Amount   
Paid-in
Capital   

Accumulated
Deficit   

Equity
(Deficit)  

                      
Balance at December 31, 2018   3,882,791  $ 4,270,507   10,244,945  $ 12,449  $ 1,119,381  $ (5,293,951)  $ 108,386 
                             
Preferred Stock Issued for Cash   946,499   1,656,374   0   0   0   0   1,656,374 
                             
Discount on Debt Issuance   0   0   0   0   69,174   0   69,174 
                             
Stock-based Compensation   0   0   0   0   131,444   0   131,444 
                             
Net Loss   0   0   0   0   0   (1,263,089)   (1,263,089)
                             
Balance at March 31, 2019 
(Unaudited)   4,829,290  $ 5,926,881   10,244,945  $ 12,449  $ 1,319,999  $ (6,557,040)  $ 702,289 
                             
Common Stock Issued for Cash   0   0   4,233,850   4,234   0   0   4,234 
                             
Preferred Stock Issued for Cash   2,531,695   3,098,364   0   0   0   0   3,098,364 
                             
Discount on Debt Issuance   0   0   0   0   424,378   0   424,378 
                             
Stock-based Compensation   0   0   0   0   3,241,282   0   3,241,282 
                             
Net Loss   0   0   0   0   0   (7,401,604)   (7,401,604)
                             
Balance at December 31, 2019   7,360,985  $ 9,025,245   14,478,795  $ 16,683  $ 4,985,659  $ (13,958,644)  $ 68,943 

 
SEE NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AYRO, INC.
 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and as of December 31, 2018

And the three months ended March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019
 

  Preferred Stock   Common Stock   Additional      
Total

Stockholders’  

  
Number of

Shares   Amount   
Number of

Shares   Amount   
Paid-in
Capital   

Accumulated
Deficit   

Equity
(Deficit)  

                      
Balance at December 31, 2019   7,360,985  $ 9,025,245   14,478,795  $ 16,683  $ 4,985,659  $ (13,958,644)  $ 68,943 
                             
Stock-based Compensation   0   0   0   0   156,459   0   156,459 
                             
Net Loss   0   0   0   0   0   (1,795,153)   (1,795,153)
                             
Balance at March 31, 2020 (Unaudited)   7,360,985  $ 9,025,245   14,478,795  $ 16,683  $ 5,142,118  $ (15,753,797)  $ (1,569,751)

 
SEE NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 AYRO, INC.
 

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 (Unaudited)

 
  2020   2019  
       
Cash flows from operating activities         

Net Loss  $ (1,795,153)  $ (1,263,089)
         

Adjustments to Net Loss         
Depreciation and amortization   114,275   108,267 
Stock-based compensation expense   156,458   131,444 
Amortization of discount on debt   63,744   10,589 
Amortization of right of use asset   19,717   0 
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable   (95,534)   (32,657)
(Increase) decrease in inventories   50,328   172,621 
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets   (114,157)   (13,065)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable   122,024   (570,468)
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses   427,875   90,140 
Increase (decrease) in related party payables   0   (324,202)
Increase (decrease) in contract liability   71,404   (9,999)

Net cash used in operating activities   (979,019)   (1,700,419)
         
Cash flows from investing activities         

Purchase of property and equipment   (87,547)   (184,014)
Reduction of lease liability   (4,096)   0 
Cash paid for patents and other intangible assets   (538)   0 
Disposals of intangible assets   0   40,294 

Net cash used in investing activities   (92,181)   (143,720)
         
Cash flows from financing activities         

Proceeds from issuance notes payable   500,000   850,000 
Disbursements for repayments of notes payable   (1,682)   (51,549)
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock   0   1,656,374 

Net cash provided by financing activities   498,318   2,454,825 
         
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   (572,882)   610,686 
         
Beginning cash and cash equivalents   641,822   39,243 
         
Ending cash  $ 68,940  $ 649,929 

         
Supplemental information         

Interest paid  $ 28,436  $ 26,516 
         

Cash Payments on operating leases  $ 30,247  $ 0 
         

Discount on Debt from issuance of Common Stock  $ 0  $ 69,174 
         

Right-of-use asset recorded in exchange for lease liability obligation  $ 1,210,680  $ 0 
 

SEE NOTES TO THE CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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 AYRO, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2020 and 2019

 
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
AYRO, Inc. (the “Company”), a corporation located outside Austin, Texas, was formed under the laws of the State of Texas on May 17, 2016 as Austin PRT Vehicle, Inc. and
subsequently changed its name to Austin EV, Inc. under an Amended and Restated Articles of Formation filed with the State of Texas on March 9, 2017. On July 24, 2019, the
Company changed its name to Ayro, Inc. and converted its corporate domicile to Delaware. The Company was founded on the basis of promoting resource sustainability. The
Company is principally engaged in manufacturing and sales of environmentally-conscious, minimal-footprint Electric Vehicles (“EV’s”). The all-electric vehicles are typically
sold both directly and to dealers in the United States, Mexico and Canada. The Company also operates a rental fleet of its three-wheel autocycle, partnering with fleet operators
in destination resort communities. The Company is beginning initial stages of operations and is dependent on funding from equity investors. Management plans include
continuing ramping up production and sales of vehicles in 2020. Management anticipates additional funding will be required, either through additional preferred stock offers or
a new equity/debt funding. Management anticipates additional funding will be required, either through a pending merger (discussed in next paragraph), additional preferred
stock offers or a new equity/debt funding.
 
On December 19, 2019, the Company entered into a material definitive agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) to merge with DropCar, Inc. a Delaware corporation. Subject to
the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, at the closing of the merger, each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock and preferred stock will be converted
into the right to receive shares of DropCar common stock based on an agreed-to exchange ratio. Additionally, upon closing of the merger, certain investors of DropCar are
committed to increasing their equity investment in the combined companies. The merger is expected to close in the first half of 2020.
 
On March 13, 2019, the Company entered into a strategic Definitive Agreement with Club Car, a division of Ingersoll Rand, granting exclusive rights to private-label the AEV
411 light electric truck for resale to its 535 dealer network. Club Car must order a minimum of 500 vehicles over a twelve month period in order to maintain exclusive rights to
the private-label rights of the vehicles. The Company has begun shipping vehicles under this master procurement agreement.
 
Basis of Presentation: The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with General Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) and include the
accounts of AYRO, Inc. In management’s opinion, all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the results of operations, financial position and cash flows for the periods
shown have been made.
 
The Condensed Balance sheets and the Condensed Statements of Operations, Stockholders’ Equity and Cash Flows included in this report have been prepared by the Company.
In our opinion, all adjustments (which include only normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the financial position as March 31, 2020 and results of operations
and cash flows for all periods have been made.
 
Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the Unites States
have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
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AYRO, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2020 and 2019

 
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
Revenue Recognition:
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)” (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 amends the guidance for revenue
recognition to replace numerous industry-specific requirements and converges areas under this topic with those of the International Financial Reporting Standards. The
Company adopted the ASU No. 2014-09 for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Company did not record a cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings upon adoption
and comparable period financial statement amounts have not been adjusted. The Company’s reported results in 2019 would not have been different if reported under the
previous accounting standard.
 
Product revenue from customer contracts is recognized on the sale of each electric vehicle as vehicles are shipped to customers. The majority of our vehicle sales orders
generally have only one performance obligation: sale of complete vehicles. Ownership and risk of loss transfers to the customer based on FOB shipping point and freight
charges are the responsibility of the customer. Payments are typically received at the point control transfers or in accordance with payment terms customary to the business.
Vehicle product revenue for the three-months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 were $124,365 and $76,843, respectively. The Company provides product warranties to assure
that the product complies with agreed upon specifications. Customers do not have the option to purchase a warranty separately; as such, warranty is not accounted for as a
separate performance obligation.
 
Amounts billed to customers related to shipping and handling are classified as shipping revenue, and we have elected to recognize the cost for freight and shipping when control
over vehicles has transferred to the customer as an operating expense. Our policy is to exclude taxes collected from a customer from the transaction price of automotive
contracts. Shipping revenue for the three-months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 were $15,405 and $6,490, respectively.
 
Subscription revenue from revenue sharing with Destination Fleet Operators (“DFO’s”) and other vehicle rental agreements is recorded in the month the vehicles in the
Company’s fleet is rented. The Company established its rental fleet in late March 2019. For the rental fleet, the Company retains title and ownership to the vehicles and places
them in DFO’s in resort communities that typically rent golf cars for use in those communities as well as food service delivery. Subscription revenue from revenue sharing
activities for the three-months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 were $1,786 and $618, respectively.
 
Services and other revenue consist of non-warranty after-sales vehicle services. Service and replacement parts revenue for the three-months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019
were $5,261 and $0, respectively.
 
Payments received in advance of the delivery of vehicles or performance of services are reported in the accompanying balance sheets as contract liability.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents: For purposes of financial statement presentation, the Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments with initial maturities of 90 days or less
to be cash. The Company maintains cash balances which may exceed federally insured limits. Management does not believe that this results in any significant credit risk.
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AYRO, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2020 and 2019

 
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable are recognized and carried at net realizable value. An allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained and reflects the best estimate of
probable losses determined principally on the basis of historical experience and specific allowances for known troubled accounts. All accounts or portions thereof that are
deemed to be uncollectible or that require an excessive collection cost are written off to the allowance for doubtful accounts. As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
management has determined that an allowance for $38,778 and $36,084, respectively, is reasonable to absorb any losses which may arise. In the event that actual losses differ
from our estimate, the results of future periods may be impacted. All accounts receivable are made on an unsecured basis. The Company considered the impact of COVID-19 in
its analysis of receivables and determined that allowance for doubtful accounts was appropriate at March 31, 2020.
 
Inventories: Inventories are reported at the lesser of cost (using the first-in, first-out method “FIFO”) or net realizable value. Inventories consist of purchased chassis, cabs,
batteries, truck beds/boxes, component parts as well as freight, tariffs, duties and other transport-in costs. Inventories are categorized as raw materials, work-in-process and
finished goods as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. Work-in-process and finished goods include labor and overhead costs. The Company considered the impact of
COVID-19 on its recorded value of inventory and determined no adjustment was necessary.
 
Property, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipment are recorded at the original cost and are being depreciated on a straight-line basis over estimated lives of three to
seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life of the assets or the remaining period of the lease, whichever is shorter. Depreciation expense for the three
months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 was $86,058 and $83,280, respectively.
 
Intangible Assets: Intangible assets consist of the cost in registering patents for the Company’s unique inventions. Such patent-related expenses are recorded at their estimated
fair value on the date of cost encumbrance and are being amortized over estimated life of 5 years. Intangible assets also include investments made with the supply chain partner,
who is also an investor, for tooling and assembly line configuration. Amortization expense for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 was $28,217 and $24,987,
respectively.
 
The Company follows FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 360, Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. ASC 360 requires that if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the cost of long-lived assets or asset groups may be impaired, an evaluation of recoverability would be performed by comparing the
estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset to the asset’s carrying value to determine if a write-down to market value would be required. Long-lived
assets or asset groups that meet the criteria in ASC 360 as being held for sale are reflected at the lower of their carrying amount or fair market value, less costs to sell.
Management has determined that there is no impairment as of March 31, 2020.
 
Contract Liability: Customer invoices where payment has been received, yet product has not shipped, and therefore revenue cannot be recognized are recorded as a current
liability under contract liability. As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, contract liability was recorded as current liabilities of $71,404 and $0, respectively.
 
Deferred Rent: The Company recognizes the minimum non-contingent rents required under operating leases as rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lives of the leases,
with differences between amounts recognized as expense and the amounts actually paid recorded within the accrued expenses on the accompanying balance sheets. As of March
31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, deferred rent was recorded as current liabilities of $20,705 and $0, respectively.
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AYRO, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2020 and 2019

 
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
Warranties: The Company records a reserve for warranty repairs upon the initial delivery of vehicles to its dealer network. The Company provides a product warranty on each
vehicle including powertrain, battery pack and electronics package. Such warranty matches the product warranty provided by its supply chain for warranty parts for all unaltered
vehicles and is not considered a separate performance obligation. The supply chain warranty does not cover warranty-based labor needed to replace a part under warranty.
Warranty reserves include management’s best estimate of the projected cost of labor to repair/replace all items under warranty. The Company reserves a percentage of all
dealer-based sales to cover an industry-standard warranty fund to support dealer labor warranty repairs. Such percentage is recorded as a component of cost of revenues in the
statement of operations. As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, warranty reserves were recorded as current liabilities of $29,171 and $27,375, respectively.
 
Leases: Operating lease assets are included within operating lease right-of-use assets, and the corresponding operating lease liabilities are included within accrued liabilities and
other for the current portion, and within other long-term liabilities for the long-term portion on our consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
Finance lease assets are included within property, plant and equipment, net, and the corresponding finance lease liabilities are included within current portion of long-term debt
and finance leases for the current portion, and within long-term debt and finance leases, net of current portion for the long-term portion on our consolidated balance sheet as of
March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
 
The Company has elected not to present short-term leases on the consolidated balance sheet as these leases have a lease term of 12 months or less at lease inception and do not
contain purchase options or renewal terms that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise. All other lease assets and lease liabilities are recognized based on the present
value of lease payments over the lease term at commencement date. Because most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate of return, the Company used our incremental
borrowing rate based on the information available at adoption date in determining the present value of lease payments.
 
Stock Based Compensation: The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with the guidance of FASB ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation.
Under the fair value recognition provisions of FASB ASC 718, which requires all stock-based compensation costs to be measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the
award and is recognized as compensation expense ratably over the period the services are rendered, which is generally the option vesting period. The Company uses the Black-
Scholes option pricing method to determine the fair value of stock options and thus determining compensation expense associated with the grant.
 
The Company measures stock-based compensation expense for its non-employees and consultants under FASB ASC 505-50, Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued
to Other than Employees for Acquiring or in Conjunction with Selling Goods and Services”. In accordance with ASC Topic 505-50, these stock options and warrants issued as
compensation for services provided to the Company are accounted for based upon the fair value of the underlying equity instrument. The fair value of the equity instrument is
charged directly to compensation expense and additional-paid-in capital over the period during which services are rendered.
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AYRO, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2020 and 2019

 
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
Net Earnings or Loss per Share: The Company’s computation of earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) includes basic and diluted EPS. Basic EPS is measured as the income (loss)
available to common shareholders divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS is similar to basic EPS but presents the
dilutive effect on a per share basis of potential common shares (e.g., common stock warrants and common stock options) as if they had been converted at the beginning of the
periods presented, or issuance date, if later. Potential common shares that have an anti-dilutive effect (i.e., those that increase income per share or decrease loss per share) are
excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS.
 
Loss per common share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the respective periods. Basic and
diluted loss per common share is the same for all periods presented because all common stock warrants and common stock options outstanding were anti-dilutive.
 
At March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company excluded the outstanding warrant and option securities, which entitle the holders thereof to ultimately acquire shares of common
stock, from its calculation of earnings per share, as their effect would have been anti-dilutive.
 
Income Taxes: The Company accounts for income tax using an asset and liability approach, which allows for the recognition of deferred tax benefits in future years. Under the
asset and liability approach, deferred taxes are provided for the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The accounting for deferred income tax calculation represents the management’s best estimate on the most
likely future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns and related future anticipation. A valuation allowance is provided
for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not these items will either expire before the Company is able to realize their benefits, or that future realization is uncertain.
 
The Company evaluates uncertainty in income tax positions based on a more-likely-than-not recognition standard. If that threshold is met, the tax position is then measured at
the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. If applicable, the Company records interest and penalties as a component of income
tax expense.
 
As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, there were no accruals for uncertain tax positions.
 
Use of Accounting Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management makes these estimates using the best information available at
the time the estimates are made; however, actual results could differ from those estimates.
 
Fair Value Measurements: The Company follows Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 820-10, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The
standard provides a consistent definition of fair value which focuses on an exit price that would be received upon sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
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NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
The standard also prioritizes, within the measurement of fair value, the use of market-based information over entity specific information and establishes a three-level hierarchy
for fair value measurements based on the nature of inputs used in the valuation of an asset or liability as of the measurement date.
 
The three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements is defined as follows:
 
 ● Level 1 – inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets

● Level 2 – inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or
liability other than quoted prices, either directly or indirectly including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active

 ● Level 3 – inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement
 
Categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The carrying amounts reported in the
accompanying financial statements for current assets and current liabilities approximate the fair value because of the immediate or short-term maturities of the financial
instruments. As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company did not have any level 2 or level 3 instruments.
 
Concentrations: For the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company purchased 95% and 100%, respectively, of its vehicle parts that it assembles from one
supplier, a related entity (Note 13). Any disruption in the operation of this supplier could adversely affect the Company’s operations.
 
For the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had one customer that accounted for 100% and 85% of its revenue, respectively.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements: In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02 (“ASC 842”), Leases, to require lessees to recognize all leases, with certain
exceptions, on the balance sheet, while recognition on the statement of operations will remain similar to lease accounting under ASC 840. Subsequently, the FASB issued ASU
No. 2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases, ASU No. 2018-11, Targeted Improvements, ASU No. 2018-20, Narrow-Scope Improvements for Lessors, and
ASU 2019-01, Codification Improvements, to clarify and amend the guidance in ASU No. 2016-02. ASC 842 eliminates real estate-specific provisions and modifies certain
aspects of lessor accounting. The Company adopted ASC 842 as of January 1, 2019 using the cumulative effect adjustment approach (“adoption of the new lease standard”). In
addition, the Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the new standard, which allowed us to carry forward the
historical determination of contracts as leases, lease classification and not reassess initial direct costs for historical lease arrangements. Accordingly, previously reported
financial statements, including footnote disclosures, have not been recast to reflect the application of the new standard to all comparative periods presented. The adoption had a
material impact on our Condensed Balance Sheets but did not have a significant impact on our Condensed Statements of Operations or our Condensed Statements of Cash
Flows. The most significant impact was the recognition of the right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities on our Condensed Balance Sheets. See Note 7.
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NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)” (“ASU 2014-09”). ASU 2014-09 amends the guidance for revenue
recognition to replace numerous industry-specific requirements and converges areas under this topic with those of the International Financial Reporting Standards. The ASU
implements a five-step process for customer contract revenue recognition that focuses on transfer of control, as opposed to transfer of risk and rewards. The amendment also
requires enhanced disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows from contracts and customers. Other major provisions include
the capitalization and amortization of certain contract costs, ensuring the time value of money is considered in the transaction price, and allowing estimates of variable
consideration to be recognized before contingencies are resolved in certain circumstances. The amendments in this ASU are effective for reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2017, and early adoption is prohibited. Entities can transition to the standard either retrospectively or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of the
adoption. The Company adopted the ASU No. 2014-09 for the year ended December 31, 2018. The adoption of the ASU did not have a material effect on the Company’s
financial statements.
 
Going Concern: The Company’s financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities
in the normal course of business. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going
concern. Management’s plans include completing a reverse merger with DropCar, Inc., a Delaware corporation under a merger agreement signed on December 19, 2019. Upon
closing of the merger, certain investors of DropCar are committed to increasing their equity investment in the combined companies. Such equity investment is expected to
support the Company’s operations for at least fifteen months. The merger is expected to close in the first half of 2020. Additionally, the Company will continue to raise capital
through additional funding sources, growing its dealer channel base to increase product sales revenue, and expanding its product portfolio offerings. If the Company cannot
achieve its operating plan, the Company may find it necessary to dispose of assets or undertake other actions, as may be appropriate.
 
NOTE 2 – ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
 
Accounts receivable at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 consist of amounts due from invoices issued and product delivered to various customers. The components of
accounts receivable are:
 

  
31 Mar 2020 
(Unaudited)   31 Dec 2019  

       
Billed Receivables  $ 205,458  $ 107,230 
Less Allowance for Doubtful Accounts   (38,778)   (36,084)
         
Total  $ 166,680  $ 71,146 
 
All billed receivable amounts are expected to be collected during this fiscal year.
 
15 | Page



 
 

AYRO, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2020 and 2019

 
NOTE 3 – INVENTORIES
 
Inventories at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 were summarized as follows:
 

  
31 Mar 2020 
(Unaudited)   31 Dec 2019  

       
Raw Material  $ 429,613  $ 554,913 
Work-in-Process   62,442   64,631 
Finished Goods   576,132   498,972 
         
Total Inventories  $ 1,068,187  $ 1,118,516 
 
NOTE 4 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
 
Property and equipment consisted of the following at March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019:
 

  
31 Mar 2020 
(Unaudited)   31 Dec 2019  

       
Computers and Equipment  $ 523,363  $ 520,586 
Furniture and Fixtures   115,371   111,347 
Leasehold Improvements   198,643   117,897 
Prototypes   218,682   218,682 
Rental Fleet   272,116   272,116 
Computer Software   54,516   54,516 
   1,382,691   1,295,144 
         
Less Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization   (891,836)   (805,778)
         
Net Property and Equipment  $ 490,855  $ 489,366 
 
Depreciation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 was $86,058 and $83,280, respectively
 
The Company considered the impact COVID-19 may have had on the carrying value of its property and equipment and determined that no impairment loss had occurred. We
will continue to assess COVID-19’s impact on our business including any indicators of impairment of property and equipment.
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NOTE 5 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 
Intangible assets consisted of the following at March 31, 2020 (Unaudited):
 
  Cost   Accumulated Amortization   Net Book Value   Average Useful Life (years)
            
Supply-chain development  $ 395,249  $ 217,829  $ 177,420  4-5
Patents & Trademarks   56,584   17,558   39,026  4-5
  $ 451,833  $ 235,387  $ 216,446   
 
Amortization expense for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 was $28,217 and $24,987 respectively. The definite lived intangible assets have no residual value at
the end of their useful lives. Estimated amortization expense for the next five years as of March 31, 2020 is as follows:
 

2020 (remainder of year)  $ 84,719 
2021  $ 105,461 
2022  $ 21,139 
2023  $ 5,105 
2024  $ 22 
  $ 216,446 

 
During the first quarter of 2020, the Company reviewed the carrying value of intangible assets due to the events and circumstances surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic. The
Company does not believe the impact of the COVID-19 has created an impairment loss on the Company’s intangible assets. Accordingly, no there was no impairment loss
recognized on the Company’s intangible assets during the three months ended March 31, 2020.
 
NOTE 6 – AMOUNTS PAYABLE – RELATED PARTY
 
The Company had received short-term expense advances from its founders. As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the amounts outstanding were $15,000 for both
periods ended.
 
In December 2019, Cenntro Automotive Group, the Company’s primary supplier, agreed to convert $1,100,000 of trade accounts payable due from the Company to 1,100,000
shares of the Company’s Series Seed 3 preferred stock. As of March 31, 2020 and 2019, the amounts outstanding to Cenntro Automotive Group for trade accounts payable were
$69,825 and $1,469,296, respectively.
 
In October 2019, the Company received term loan from a founding board member as reported in Note 8 – Debt.
 
NOTE 7 – OPERATING LEASES
 
The Company is obligated, as lessee, under cancelable operating leases for office and manufacturing space in Texas.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTE 7 – OPERATING LEASES (Continued)
 
In 2019 the Company entered into a new lease agreement for office and manufacturing space. The lease commencement date was January 16, 2020. In connection with the
adoption of Topic 842, the Company has elected to treat the lease and non-lease components as a single component. In addition, the Company has elected to not record short-
term leases as a right to use asset and corresponding lease liability.
 
As of March 31, 2020, the Company reports supplemental balance sheet information related to leases was as follows:
 

Operating Leases  Classification    
Right-of-use asset    $ 1,210,680 
Less: Accumulated Amortization    $ (19,717)
Net Right-of-use asset  Operating lease assets  $ 1,190,963 
       
Current lease liabilities  Current operating lease liabilities  $ 229,977 
Non-current lease liabilities  Long-term operating lease liabilities  $ 976,607 
    $ 1,206,584 

 
In determining the net present value of the future lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset, the following assumptions were used:

 
Remaining lease term (years)   7.17 
Incremental borrowing rate applied   10.41%

 
The following is a schedule for the next seven years and thereafter of future minimum rental payments required under the operating leases that have an initial or remaining non-
cancelable lease term in excess of one year as of December 31, 2019:
 

2020 (remainder)  $ 202,422 
2021  $ 275,065 
2022  $ 281,422 
2023  $ 287,969 
2024  $ 294,713 
Thereafter  $ 662,144 

 
Total rent expense for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 was $106,520 and $46,561, respectively.
 
Total amortization expense for the right-to-use asset for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019 was $19,717 and $0, respectively.
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NOTE 8 – DEBT
 
In the third quarter of 2019, the Company received cash in exchange for term loans from five individual lenders, totaling $250,000. Additionally, one lender holding convertible
debt, as reported in Note 9 below, converted $100,000 of principle to a term loan. In the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company received cash of $75,000 in exchange for a term
loan from an individual lender. The terms for the notes were for twelve months, with twelve percent (12%) interest payable quarterly. The Company issued 1.056 shares of the
Company’s common stock to the lenders for each dollar borrowed for an aggregate of 369,600 shares of common stock. A discount on debt related to the common stock
issuance of $187,675 was recorded and is being amortized over the life of the notes. In December 2019, $425,000 of principal and associated interest were converted to 433,819
shares of the Company’s Series Seed 3 preferred stock.
 
In October 2019, the Company received $500,000 under a 120-day bridge term loan bearing interest at the rate of 14% per annum, payable quarterly, from Mark Adams, a
founding board member. As an inducement for the bridge loan, the Company granted Mr. Adams 528,000 shares of common stock. On December 13, 2019, Mr. Adams agreed
to extend the maturity date for this loan until April 30, 2021 in exchange for the Company’s issuance of 500,000 shares of common stock. A discount on debt of $343,746 was
recorded in the transaction and is being amortized over the life of the debt.
 
In December 2019, a local marketing firm agreed to convert 90% of trade accounts payable the Company owed that firm to a term loan with a principal amount of $137,729.03
and bearing interest at the rate of 15% per annum, payable quarterly, with a maturity date of May 31, 2021. The Company also issued the marketing firm 66,000 shares of
common stock in conjunction with this term loan. A discount on debt of $46,683 was recorded in the transaction and is being amortized over the life of the debt.
 
NOTE 9 – CONVERTIBLE DEBT
 
In the first quarter of 2019, the Company received cash in exchange for convertible promissory notes from seven individual lenders, totaling $800,000. The terms for the notes
were sixty (60) days with an additional sixty-day extension to be exercised at the discretion of the Company. The notes accrued interest at twelve (12%) for the first sixty days
and at fifteen percent (15%) for the sixty-day extension. The lenders have the option to convert the notes and accrued interest for Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock at $1.75 per
share before the sixty-day extension period has expired. In May 2019, four lenders converted $350,000 of principal and $9,062 of accrued interest into 205,178 of the
Company’s Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock. In September 2019, one lender converted $100,000 of convertible notes to a twelve-month term loan identified in Note 8 above.
Additionally, two lenders redeemed $60,000 principle from their outstanding note. Warrants to purchase up to 97,500 of AYRO’s common stock at a price of $2.00 per share
were issued in connection with the notes. The warrants issued have a five-year life. Interest expense associated with the warrants for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and
2019 was $0 and $22,462, respectively. A discount on debt related to the warrant issuance of $69,173 was recorded and is being amortized over the life of the notes. In
December 2019, the remaining $290,000 in principal and associated accrued interest was converted to 343,482 shares of the Company’s Series Seed 3 preferred stock. For the
three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, interest expense of $0 and $10,589, respectively, was recorded to reflect the beneficial conversion feature of the debt.
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NOTE 9 – CONVERTIBLE DEBT (Continued)
 
In December of 2019, the Company received cash in exchange for convertible promissory notes from five institutional lenders totaling $1,000,000. The maturity date of the
notes is the earlier of (1) the closing of the merger, (2) May 31, 2020, or (3) ninety (90) days the Company determines not to proceed with the merger. The notes accrued interest
at five percent (5%). Immediately prior to the consummation of the merger transaction, the outstanding principal and accrued interest will convert into the number of shares of
the Company that will be exchangeable for such number of shares of DropCar, such that upon closing of the merger, will represent 7.03% of the issued and outstanding shares
of the combined companies.
 
In February of 2020, the Company received cash in exchange for convertible promissory notes from three institutional lenders totaling $500,000. The maturity date of the notes
is the earlier of (1) the closing of the merger with DropCar, Inc., (2) May 31, 2020, or (3) ninety (90) days the Company determines not to proceed with the merger. The notes
accrued interest at seven percent (7%). Immediately prior to the consummation of the merger transaction, the outstanding principal and accrued interest will convert into the
number of shares of the Company that will be exchangeable for 500,000 shares the post-merger combined company prior to any stock splits or reverse splits.
 
Future maturities of debt are as follows:
 

Year Ended December 31,  Amount  
    
2020 (remainder of year)  $ 1,505,263 
2021  $ 645,276 
2022  $ 8,202 
2023  $ 5,859 
Total Debt  $ 2,164,600 
Less: Debt Discount  $ (277,566)
Subtotal  $ 1,887,034 
Less: Current Portion  $ (1,507,092)
Long Term Debt  $ 379,942 

 
NOTE 10 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 
Preferred Stock: The Company is authorized to issue 8,472,500 shares of preferred stock, no par value, of which 3,272,500 shares were designated as Series Seed-1 Preferred
Stock, 2,200,000 shares were designated as Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock and 3,000,000 shares were designated as Series Seed-3 Preferred Stock. As of March 31, 2020,
3,272,500 shares of Series Seed-1 Preferred Stock, 1,907,683 shares of Series Seed-2 Preferred Stock and 2,180,802 shares of Series Seed-3 Preferred Stock were issued and
outstanding.
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NOTE 10 – STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Continued)
 
The Series Seed Preferred Stock is convertible at any time after issuance at the option of the holder into the Company’s Common Stock on a 1-for-1 basis. The Series Seed
Preferred Stock is also subject to mandatory conversion provisions upon either (i) immediately prior to the closing off a firm commitment underwritten initial public offering
pursuant to an effective registration statement filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended covering the offer and sale of the Company’s Common Stock; or, (ii) upon the
receipt by the Company of a written request for such conversion from the holders of a majority of the Preferred Stock then outstanding. In the event the outstanding shares of
Common Stock are subdivided (by stock split, stock dividend, reverse split or otherwise), the shares of Series Seed Preferred Stock will be adjusted ratably to maintain each
share’s ownership percentage. The Series Seed Preferred Stock Stockholders are entitled to equal voting rights to common stockholders on an as-converted basis and receive
preference to common stockholders upon liquidation. During the first two quarters of 2018, 2,300,000 shares of Series Seed 1 Preferred Stock were sold for $1.00 per share for
a cash proceeds of $2,300,000. Of these shares, 80,000 shares were issued to a related party. Also, during the first two quarters of 2018, 250,000 shares of Series Seed 1
Preferred Stock were redeemed for $1.00 per share for cash of $250,000. During the last two quarters of 2018, 210,291 shares of Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock were sold for
$1.75 per share for a cash proceeds of $368,000. Additionally, 400,000 shares of Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock were sold for $1.58 per share for a cash proceeds of $630,007.
During the first half of 2019, 1,092,215 shares of Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock were sold for $1.75 per share for a cash proceeds of $1,911,375. During the second quarter of
2019, 238,500 shares of Series Seed 3 Preferred Stock were sold for $2.00 per share for a cash proceeds of $477,000. During the third quarter of 2019, 65,000 shares of Series
Seed 3 Preferred Stock were sold for $2.00 per share for a cash proceeds of $130,000. During the fourth quarter of 2019, 777,301 shares of Series Seed 3 Preferred Stock were
issued at $1.00 per share in exchange for cancellation of $777,301 of notes payable and accrued interest. Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2019, 1,100,000 shares of
Series Seed 3 Preferred Stock were issued at $1.00 per share in exchange for cancellation of $1,100,000 of trade accounts payable from a single supplier.
 
Common Stock: The Company is authorized to issue 34,820,000 shares of Common Stock, par value $0.001. As of March 31, 2020, 14,478,795 shares were issued and
outstanding.
 
On February 1, 2017, the Company executed a 10-for-1 stock split on all authorized, issued and outstanding shares of stock.
 
On February 7, 2017, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (“SPA”) with Cenntro Automotive Group (“Cenntro”) to purchase 3,000,000 shares of the
company’s Common Stock at $0.15 per share. As consideration, the Company received $50,000 in cash, $92,061 of inventory and $307.939 of assembly line design, setup and
tooling which is being used to mass-produce the Company’s 411 electric vehicle.
 
On December 16, 2019, the Company issued 66,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to a local marketing firm as an incentive for the conversion of 90% of trade
accounts payable the Company owed that firm into a term loan. See marketing firm term loan disclosed in Note 8 – Debt.
 
The Company has reserved a total of 6,410,000 shares of its Common Stock pursuant to the Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) (see Note 11). The Company has 3,662,952
stock options outstanding under this plan as of March 31, 2020.
 
NOTE 11 – STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS
 
Long Term Incentive Plan: The Company grants stock options and warrants pursuant to the 2017 Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) effective January 1, 2017. The Company
measures employee stock-based awards at grant-date fair value and recognizes employee compensation expense on a straight-line method basis over the vesting period of the
award. Grants to non-employees are expensed at the earlier of (i) the date at which a commitment for performance by the service provider to earn the equity instrument is
reached and (ii) the date at which the service provider’s performance is complete.
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NOTE 11 – STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
 
Determining the appropriate fair value of the stock-based awards requires the input of subjective assumptions, including the fair value of the Company’s common stock, and for
stock options, the expected life of the option, and the expected stock price volatility. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value its stock option awards.
As a result, if factors change and different assumptions are used, stock-based compensation expense could be materially different for future awards.
 
The Company uses the following inputs when valuing stock-based awards. The expected life of the employee stock options was estimated using the “simplified method”, as the
Company has no historical information to develop reasonable expectations about future exercise patterns and employment duration for its stock option grants. The simplified
method is based on the average of the vesting tranches and the contractual life of each grant. The expected life of awards that vest immediately use the contractual maturity
since they are vested when issued. For stock price volatility, the valuation firm uses public company compatibles and historical private placement data as a basis for its expected
volatility to calculate the fair value of option grants. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury notes with a term approximating the expected life of the option at the
grant-date.
 
Stock-based compensation as a result of stock option awards is included in the statement of operations as follows for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019:
 

  
2020 

(Unaudited)   
2019 

(Unaudited)  
       
Research and development  $ 15,872  $ 31,658 
Sales and marketing  $ 34,584  $ 1,416 
General and administrative  $ 83,946  $ 37,544 

 
See below for the weighted average variables used in assessing the fair value at the grant dates:
 

  2020   2019  
       
Expected life (years)   3.0   3.0 
Risk-free interest rate   0.29%  1.62%
Expected volatility   74.4%  71.0%
Total grant date fair value  $ 0.99  $ 0.94 

 
Total compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recognized as of March 31, 2020 was $785,257 and will be recognized on a straight-line basis through the end of
the vesting periods in 2021. Future stock option compensation expense related to these options to be recognized during the years ending December 31, 2020 (remainder), 2021
and 2022 is expected to be approximately $356,229, $281,142 and $147,886, respectively. The amount of future stock option compensation expense could be affected by any
future option grants or by any forfeitures.
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NOTE 11 – STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
 
The following table reflects the stock option activity for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and year ended December 31, 2019.
 

  Number of Shares   
Weighted Average

Exercise Price   Contractual Life (Years)  
          
Outstanding at January 1, 2019   3,300,000  $ 0.667   5.80  
             
Granted   3,265,000   0.966   5.56  
Exercised   0         
Cancellations   1,750,000   0.841   5.61  
Forfeitures   1,160,000   0.841   5.61  
             
Outstanding at December 31, 2019   3,655,000  $ 0.796   5.73  
             
Granted   32,952   0.990   5.00  
Exercised   0         
Cancellations   0         
Forfeitures   25,000   0.667   5.80  
             
Outstanding at March 31, 2020   3,662,952  $ 0.797   5.73  
 
Of the outstanding options, 2,147,947 and 1,840,359 were vested and exercisable as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
 
As of March 31, 2020, 2,747,048 options are still issuable under the LTIP.
 
Warrants: The Company grants stock warrants pursuant to the 2017 Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) effective January 1, 2017. The Company measures consultant and
debtholder stock-based awards at grant-date fair value and recognizes contractor consulting expense for contractor warrants and interest expense for debtholder warrants on a
straight-line method basis over the vesting period of the award. Grants to consultants are expensed at the earlier of (i) the date at which a commitment for performance by the
service provider to earn the equity instrument is reached and (ii) the date at which the service provider’s performance is complete. Grants to debtholders are expensed on a
straight-line basis over the term of the debt facility.
 
Determining the appropriate fair value of the warrants requires the input of subjective assumptions, including the fair value of the Company’s common stock, the expected life
of the warrant, and the expected stock price volatility. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value its warrants granted. The assumptions used in
calculating the fair value of warrant grants are based on periodic valuations performed by an independent third-party valuation firm. As a result, if factors change and different
assumptions are used, stock-based compensation expense could be materially different for future awards.
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NOTE 11 – STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
 
The Company uses the following inputs when valuing stock-based awards. Warrants to purchase the Company’s common stock granted to consultants are granted based on a
five (5) year life. For stock price volatility, the valuation firm uses public company compatibles and historical private placement data as a basis for its expected volatility to
calculate the fair value of option grants. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury notes with a term approximating the expected life of the option at the grant-date.
 
Stock-based compensation, for warrants is included in the statement of operations as follows for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019:
 

  
2020 

(Unaudited)   
2019 

(Unaudited)  
         
General and administrative  $ 22,056  $ 60,826 

 
See below for the weighted average variables used in assessing the fair value at the grant dates:
 

  2020   2019  
       
Expected life (years)   5.0   5.0 
Risk-free interest rate   0.29%  1.62%
Expected volatility   74.4%  73.2%
Total grant date fair value  $ 0.99  $ 0.94 

 
The following table reflects the stock warrant activity for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and year ended December 31, 2019.
 

  Number of Shares   
Weighted Average

Exercise Price   Contractual Life (Years)  
Outstanding at January 1, 2019   473,000  $ 2.00   5.00  
             
Granted   1,220,000   2.00   5.00  
Exercised   0   —     
Forfeitures   0   —   —  
             
Outstanding at December 31, 2019   1,693,000  $ 2.00   5.00  
             
Granted   0   2.00   5.00  
Exercised   0   —     
Forfeitures   0   —   —  
             
Outstanding at March 31, 2020   1,693,000  $ 2.00   5.00  
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NOTE 11 – STOCK-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
 
Of the outstanding warrants, all 1,693,000 were vested and exercisable as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019. Consulting expense of $22,056 and $38,364 was recorded
in connection with of warrants for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Additionally, interest expense of $0 and $22,462 was recorded in connection
with of warrants for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
 
Stock Grants: In October 2019, the Company granted 850,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to Sustainability Initiatives, LLC, an entity controlled by two of the
Company’s founding board members as compensation for the termination of the consulting agreement with that entity. Stock-based compensation of $908,650 was recorded in
the transaction.
 
In October, 2019, the Company granted 528,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to Mark Adams, a founding board member, as consideration in providing a $500,000
150-day term loan to the Company. In December, 2019, the Company granted an additional 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to Mr. Adams as consideration for
extending the term date of the loan to April 30, 2021. A discount on debt of $343,746 was recorded in the transaction.
 
In December 2019, the Company granted 1,593,550 shares of the Company’s common stock to Sustainability Initiatives, LLC and two of the Company’s founding board
members as compensation for cancelling options to purchase 1,750,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Stock-based compensation of $1,496,343 was recorded in the
transaction.
 
In December 2019, The Company granted 247,500 shares of common stock as compensation for consulting services to Sustainability Consultants, LLC, an entity that is
controlled by Mark Adams, Will Steakley and John Constantine, who are principal stockholders of the Company. Stock-based compensation of $232,403 was recorded in the
transaction.
 
The Company measures stock grants at grant-date fair value and recognizes contractor consulting expense on a straight-line method basis over the vesting period of the award.
Grants to non-employees are expensed at the earlier of (i) the date at which a commitment for performance by the service provider to earn the equity instrument is reached and
(ii) the date at which the service provider’s performance is complete. The fair value of the stock grants was determined based on the fair market value of the Company’s
common stock as determined by an independent third-party valuation firm.
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AYRO, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2020 and 2019

 
NOTE 12- INCOME TAXES
 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 are summarized below:
 
  31 Mar 2020   31 Dec 2019  
       
Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 10,289,416  $ 8,768,915 
Basis of property and equipment   529,181   487,356 
Other   4,306,231   4,147,079 
Total gross deferred tax assets   15,124,828   13,403,350 
Less valuation allowance   (15,124,828)   (13,403,350)
         
Net deferred tax assets  $ 0  $ 0 
 
As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, management was unable to determine if the Company’s deferred tax assets would be realized, and if realized, unable to
determine the timing and the effective tax rates that they would be determined. The Company has therefore recorded a valuation allowance of $15,124,828 and $13,403,350 for
the three months ended March 31, 2020 and year ended December 31, 2019, respectively. Additionally, the Company had Net Operating Losses of $10,289,416 and $8,768,915
for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and year ended December 31, 2019, respectively.
 
No federal tax provision has been provided for the three months ended March 31, 2020 or year ended December 31, 2019 due to the losses incurred during such periods.
 
NOTE 13 – RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 
On March 1, 2017, the Company entered into a royalty-based agreement with Sustainability Initiatives, LLC (“SI”) that is controlled by two of the three Company board
members in the effort to accelerate the start-up of the Company’s operations. In return for acceleration assistance and for serving the Chief Visionary Officer role, the agreement
pays a monthly retainer of $6,000 per month. Additionally, options to purchase 350,000 shares of the Company’s common stock were issued with an option price of $0.67 per
share, vesting semi-annually over a three-year period. On a quarterly basis, the Company remitted a royalty of a percentage (see table below) of company revenues less the
retainer amounts for the measurement quarter paid to date.
 

Revenues  
Royalty

Percentage  
    
$0 - $25,000,000   3.0%
$25,000,000 - $50,000,000   2.0%
$50,000,000 - $100,000,000   1.0%
Over $100,000,001   0.5%
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AYRO, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2020 and 2019

 
NOTE 13 – RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
 
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company agreed to an amendment with SI to reduce the royalty percentage to 0.5%. In relation to this amendment, the Company granted the SI
members an additional 1,400,000 LTIP stock options to vest over a six-month vesting term. On October 15, 2019 the Company and the SI members agreed to terminate the
agreement in full in exchange for 850,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Stock-based compensation of $908,650 was recorded on the transaction in October 2019 on
the statement of operations as consulting expenses within the general and administrative section.
 
On December 9, 2019, the Company and the SI members agreed to cancel the outstanding options to purchase 1,750,000 shares of the Company’s common stock in exchange
for 1,593,550 shares of the Company’s common stock. Stock-based compensation of $1,496,343 was recorded for the transaction in December 2019 on the statement of
operations as consulting expenses within the general and administrative section.
 
On April 1, 2017, the Company entered into a fee-for-service agreement with SI. In return for accounting, marketing, graphics and other services, the Company pays fixed,
market-standard hourly rates under the shared services agreement as services are rendered. As of March, 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had a balance
outstanding to SI for $12,150 for both periods. Total expenses paid or payable SI were $0 and $18,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
 
In 2017, the Company executed a supply chain contract with Cenntro, a manufacturer located in the Peoples’ Republic of China. Currently, the Company purchases 100% of its
vehicle chassis, cabs and wheels through this supply chain relationship with Cenntro. Contract terms are industry standard and represent arms-length market pricing. The
Company must sell a minimum number of units in order to maintain its exclusive supply chain contract. The company is in default of the exclusive term of the contract;
however, the default has been waived.
 
In January 2019, the Company entered into a fee-for-service consulting agreement with Sustainability Consultants, LLC, an entity that is controlled by Mark Adams, Will
Steakley and John Constantine, who are principal stockholders of the Company. In exchange for consulting services provided, paid $189,238 in consulting fees to the firm.
Additionally, the Company granted warrants to purchase 652,500 shares of the Company’s common stock. The warrants have an exercise price of $2.00 per share with a five-
year life. Stock-based compensation consulting expense of $260,733 was recorded in the general and administrative expenses on the statement of operations in 2019 in
conjunction with the warrant grant. The Company also granted 247,500 shares of the Company’s common stock and recorded stock-based compensation of $232,403 related to
the common stock transaction.
 
In October, 2019, the Company granted 528,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to Mark Adams, a founding board member, as consideration in providing a $500,000
150-day term loan to the Company. In December, 2019, the Company granted an additional 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock to Mr. Adams as consideration for
extending the term date of the loan to April 30, 2021. A discount on debt of $343,746 was recorded in the transaction
 
In December 2019, Cenntro agreed to convert $1,100,000 of trade accounts payable due from the Company to 1,100,000 shares of the Company’s Series Seed 3 preferred stock
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NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2020 and 2019

 
NOTE 13 – RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
 
As of March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the amounts outstanding to Cenntro for trade accounts payable were $69,825 and $83,955, respectively.
 
NOTE 14 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 
Management has evaluated subsequent events for disclosure in these financial statements through April 30, 2020, which is the date the financial statements were available to be
issued and has not identified any material events requiring disclosure other than identified below.
 
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a respiratory disease caused by a new coronavirus a “pandemic.” First identified in late 2019 and
now known as COVID-19, the outbreak has impacted thousands of individuals worldwide. In response, many countries have implemented measures to combat the outbreak that
have impacted global business operations. As of the date of the condensed financial statements, our operations have not been significantly impacted; however, we continue to
monitor the situation. No impairments were recorded as of the consolidated balance sheet date, as the carrying amounts of our assets are expected to be recoverable; however,
due to significant uncertainty surrounding the situation, management’s judgment regarding this could change in the future. In addition, while our results of operations, cash
flows, and financial condition could be negatively impacted, the extent of the impact cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.
 
In April 2020, the Company issued a promissory note payable to an individual investor providing $600,000 of short-term financing. The notes are to be repaid upon the earlier
of (1) closing date of the pending DropCar merger or (2) July 14, 2020. The note carries an interest rate of fifteen percent (15%) and are issued with a subordinated security lien
on the assets of the Company. Fifty percent (50%) of the principle amount is personally guaranteed by Mark Adams, a founding board member. In conjunction with the notes,
common stock representing two percent (2%) of the combined company’s post-merger outstanding common stock was granted each to the lender and to Mr. Adams as
compensation for his personal guarantee.
 
In May 2020, the Company received a $218,000 loan from its primary bank under the Paycheck Protection Program administered by the Small Business Administration. The
note carries a two-year maturity at a one percent interest rate. No payments are required for six months. The note may be partially forgivable based on achievement of certain
continued employment milestones.
 
On May 28, 2020, the Company closed its merger with DropCar, Inc. pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement dated December 19, 2019.
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Exhibit 99.3

 
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
On May 28, 2020, pursuant to the previously announced Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated December 19, 2019 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among AYRO, Inc., a

Delaware corporation previously known as DropCar, Inc. (the “Company”), ABC Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
(“Merger Sub”), and AYRO Operating Company, a Delaware corporation previously known as AYRO, Inc. (“AYRO Operating”), Merger Sub was merged with and into
AYRO Operating, with AYRO Operating continuing after the merger as the surviving entity and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”).

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and the pro forma condensed combined income

statements for the year ended December 31, 2019, which give effect to the Merger, are presented herein. The Merger will be accounted for as a “reverse merger” business
combination under the acquisition method of accounting with AYRO Operating treated as the accounting acquirer. AYRO Operating was determined to be the accounting
acquirer based upon the terms of the Merger and other factors, such as the number of shares issued to AYRO Operating stockholders under the Merger Agreement, relative
voting rights and the composition of the combined company’s board and senior management. The unaudited pro forma condensed financial statements also give effect to the
sale of the assets associated with the Company’s business of providing vehicle support, fleet logistics and concierge services for both consumers and the automotive industry
pursuant to the asset purchase agreement, dated December 18, 2019 (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”) by and among the Company, DropCar Operating Company, Inc., a
Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (“DropCar Operating”), DC Partners Acquisition, LLC (“DC Partners”), Spencer Richardson and David
Newman, which closed immediately following the effective tie of the Merger on May 28, 2020 (the “Asset Sale Transaction”).

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2020 combines the historical condensed balance sheet of the Company as of March 31, 2020

and the historical condensed consolidated balance sheet of AYRO Operating as of March 31, 2020, giving pro forma effect to the Merger and the Asset Sale Transaction as if
such transactions had been completed on March 31, 2020. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2020
combine the historical audited condensed statement of operations of the Company for the three months ended March 31, 2020 and the historical audited condensed statements
of operations of AYRO Operating for the three months ended March 31, 2020, giving pro forma effect to the merger and the Asset Sale Transaction as if such transactions had
been completed on January 1, 2019. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2019 combine the historical
audited condensed statement of operations of AYRO for its fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 and the historical audited condensed statements of operations of AYRO
Operating for its fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, giving pro forma effect to the merger and the Asset Sale Transaction as if such transactions had been completed on
January 1, 2019. The historical financial information has been adjusted in the respective unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements to give effect to pro
forma events that are (1) directly attributable to the Merger or the Asset Sale Transaction, (2) factually supportable, and (3) with respect to the statements of operations, expected
to have a continuing impact on the combined company.

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements presented are based on the assumptions and adjustments described in the accompanying notes. The pro

forma condensed combined financial statements are presented for illustrative purposes only and do not purport to represent what the financial position or results of operations
would have been if the Merger or the Asset Sale Transaction had been completed as of the dates indicated in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements
or that will be realized upon the consummation of the proposed transactions.

 
The application of the acquisition method of accounting is dependent upon certain valuations and other studies that have yet to be completed or have not progressed to a

stage where there is sufficient information for a definitive measurement. Accordingly, the pro forma adjustments are preliminary, subject to further revision as additional
information becomes available and additional analyses are performed, and have been made solely for the purpose of providing unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial statements. Differences between these preliminary estimates and the final acquisition accounting may occur and these differences could have a material impact on the
accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements and the combined company’s future financial position and results of operations. Fair values
determined as of the assumed acquisition dates are based on the most recently available information. To the extent there are significant changes to the combined company’s
business, or as new information becomes available, the assumptions and estimates herein could change significantly. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements do not reflect certain transactions that occurred subsequent to March 31, 2020.

 
Because AYRO Operating is being treated as the accounting acquirer, AYRO Operating’s assets and liabilities will be recorded at their precombination carrying amounts

and the historical operations that are reflected in the financial statements will be those of AYRO Operating. The Company’s assets and liabilities will be measured and
recognized at their fair values as of the date of the merger, and consolidated with the assets, liabilities and results of operations of AYRO Operating after the consummation of
the Merger. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations include certain acquisition accounting adjustments described therein.

 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations do not include (a) the impacts of any revenue, cost or other operating synergies that may result from

the Merger or any related restructuring costs and (b) certain amounts resulting from the merger that were determined to be of a non-recurring nature. On May 28, 2020,
immediately following the effective time of the Merger, the Company effected a 1-for-10 reverse stock split of its issued and outstanding shares of common stock (the “Reverse
Stock Split”), and immediately following the Reverse Stock Split, the Company issued a stock dividend of one share of common stock for each outstanding share of common
stock to all holders of record immediately following the effective time of the Reverse Stock Split (the “Stock Dividend”). Accordingly, all share and per share amounts for all
periods presented in these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements and related notes have been adjusted retroactively, where applicable, to reflect the
Reverse Stock Split and the Stock Dividend.
 
   



 
 

DropCar, Inc., and Subsidiaries
PROFORMA Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of March 31, 2020
(Unaudited)

 

  AYRO, Inc.   DropCar, Inc.   

Pro Forma
Adjustments

for Disposition   
Pro Forma

As Adjusted   

Pro Forma
Adjustments

for AYRO
Reverse

Acquisition   
Pro Forma

Results  
                   
ASSETS                         
                         
CURRENT ASSETS:                         

Cash  $ 68,940  $ 3,551,393  $    $ 3,620,333  $ 4,000,000(1) (3)  $ 7,620,333 
Accounts receivable, net   166,680   -   -   166,680   -   166,680 
Inventories   1,068,187   -   -   1,068,187   -   1,068,187 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   278,556   172,672       451,228   -   451,228 
Current assets held for sale       197,902   (197,902)   -   -   - 

Total current assets   1,582,363   3,921,967   (197,902)   5,306,428   4,000,000   9,306,428 
                         

Property and equipment, net   490,855   -   -   490,855   -   490,855 
Capitalized software costs, net   -   -   -   -   -   - 
Operating lease right-of-use asset   1,190,963   -   -   1,190,963   -   1,190,963 
Other assets   265,202   -   -   265,202   -   265,202 
Noncurrent assets held for sale   -   390,832   (390,832)   -   -   - 

                         
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 3,529,383  $ 4,312,799  $ (588,734)  $ 7,253,448  $ 4,000,000  $ 11,253,448 

                         
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY                         
                         
CURRENT LIABILITIES:                         

Accounts payable  $ 879,101  $ 1,558,909  $    $ 2,438,010  $ -   2,438,010 
Accrued expenses   1,040,011   -   -   1,040,011   -   1,040,011 
Contract liability   71,404   -   -   71,404   -   71,404 
Related party payables   15,000   -   -   15,000   -   15,000 
Notes payable, current portion   1,507,092   -   -   1,507,092   (1,500,000) (2) (3)   7,092 
Lease liability, current portion   229,977   -   -   229,977   -   229,977 
Current liabilities held for sale       912,472   (912,472)   -   -   - 

Total current liabilities   3,742,585   2,471,381   (912,472)   5,301,494   (1,500,000)   3,801,494 
                         

Notes payable, net of debt discount and current portion   379,942   -   -   379,942       379,942 
Lease liability, net of current portion   976,607   -   -   976,607       976,607 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   5,099,135   2,471,381   (912,472)   6,658,043   (1,500,000)   5,158,043 
                         
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES                         
                         
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:                         

Ayro Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 8,472,500 shares authorized                         
Ayro Series Seed 1 Preferred Stock 3,272,500 shares designated,
3,272,500 shares issued and outstanding;   3,272,500   -   -   3,272,500   (3,272,500) (1)   - 
Ayro Series Seed 2 Preferred Stock 2,200,000 shares designated,
1,907,682 shares issued and outstanding;   3,268,444   -   -   3,268,444   (3,268,444) (1)   - 
Ayro Series Seed 3 Preferred Stock 3,000,000 shares designated,
2,180,803 shares issued and outstanding;   2,484,301   -   -   2,484,301   (2,484,301) (1)   - 
DropCar Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 5,000,000 shares
authorized           -   -       - 
DropCar Series seed preferred stock, 842,405 shares authorized,
zero issued and outstanding   -   -   -   -   -   - 
DropCar Series A preferred stock, 1,963,877 shares authorized,
zero issued and outstanding   -   -   -   -   -   - 
DropCar Convertible Series H, 8,500 shares designated, zero
shares issued and outstanding;   -   -   -   -   -   - 
DropCar Convertible Series H-1, 9,488 shares designated, zero
shares issued and outstanding   -   -   -   -   -   - 
DropCar Convertible Series H-2, 3,500 shares designated, zero
shares issued and outstanding   -   -   -   -   -   - 
DropCar Convertible Series H-3, 8,461 shares designated, zero
shares issued and outstanding;   -   -   -   -   -   - 
DropCar Convertible Series H-4, 30,000 shares designated, 5,028
shares issued and outstanding;   -   1   -   1   (1) (1)   - 
Convertible Series H-5, 50,000 shares designated, zero shares
issued and outstanding;   -   -   -   -   -   - 
Convertible Series H-6, 50,000 shares designated, 29,822 shares
issued and outstanding;   -   3   -   3   (3) (1)   -

Ayro Common stock, $0.001 par value; 26,347,500 shares
authorized, 14,478,795 issued and outstanding;   16,683       -   16,683   (16,683) (1)   - 
DropCar Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 100,000,000 shares
authorized, 4,551,882 issued and outstanding   -   455       455   928(1)   1,383 
Additional paid in capital   5,142,117   37,612,600   (35,447,903)   7,306,814   14,541,004(2) (3) (4)   21,847,818 
Accumulated deficit   (15,753,796)   (35,771,641)   35,771,641   (15,753,796)                      (15,753,796)

                         
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   (1,569,751)   1,841,418   323,738   595,405   5,500,000   6,095,405 
                         
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  $ 3,529,383  $ 4,312,799  $ (588,734)  $ 7,253,448  $ 4,000,000  $ 11,253,448 

 
   



 
 

DropCar, Inc., and Subsidiaries
PROFORMA Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2020
(Unaudited)

 

  AYRO, Inc.   DropCar, Inc.   

Pro Forma
Adjustments

for Disposition   
Pro Forma

As Adjusted   

Pro Forma
Adjustments

for AYRO
Reverse

Acquisition   
Pro Forma

Results  
                   
REVENUES  $ 146,816  $ -  $ -  $ 146,816  $ -  $ 146,816 
                         
COST OF REVENUE   113,155   -   -   113,155   -   113,155 
                         
GROSS PROFIT (LOSS)   33,661   -   -   33,661   -   33,661 
                         
OPERATING EXPENSES                         

Research and development expenses   154,699   -   -   154,699   -   154,699 
Sales and marketing expenses   319,455   -   -   319,455   -   319,455 
General and administrative expenses   1,249,051   773,118   -   2,022,169   2,863,481(5)   4,885,650

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES   1,723,205   773,118   -   2,496,323   2,863,481   5,359,804 
                         

OPERATING LOSS   (1,689,544)   (773,118)   -    (2,462,662)   (2,863,481)   (5,326,143)
                         
Other income (expense), net   (105,609)   -   -   (105,609)       (105,609)
                         

LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS   (1,795,153)   (773,118)   -   (2,568,271)   (2,863,481)   (5,431,752)
                         
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS                         

Income (loss) from operations of discontinued component   -   (284,544)   284,544(4)   -   -   - 
Loss on sale of component   -   -   -   -   -   - 

INCOME (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS   -   (284,544)   284,544   -   -   - 
                         
NET LOSS  $ (1,795,153)  $ (1,057,662)  $ 284,544  $ (2,568,271)  $ (2,863,481)  $ (5,431,752)
                         
Deemed dividend on exchange of warrants   -   -   -   -   -   - 
                         
NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS  $ (1,795,153)  $ (1,057,662)  $ 284,544  $ (2,568,271)  $ (2,863,481)  $ (5,431,752)
                         
AMOUNTS ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS                         

Loss from continuing operations  $ (1,795,153)  $ (773,118)  $ -  $ (2,568,271)  $ (2,863,481)  $ (5,431,752)
Loss from discontinued operations   -   (284,544)   284,544   -   -   - 

NET LOSS  $  (1,795,153)  $  (1,057,662)  $ 284,544  $  (2,568,271)  $  (2,863,481)  $  (5,431,752)
                         
LOSS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS:                         

Basic  $ (0.12)  $ (0.19)              $ (0.39)
Diluted  $ (0.12)  $ (0.19)              $ (0.39)

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE FROM DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS:                         

Basic  $ -  $ (0.07)              $ - 
Diluted  $ -  $ (0.07)              $ - 

NET LOSS PER SHARE:                         
Basic  $ (0.12)  $ (0.26)              $ (0.39)
Diluted  $ (0.12)  $ (0.26)              $ (0.39)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING                         
Basic   14,478,795   4,132,212               13,833,347 
Diluted   14,478,795   4,132,212               13,833,347 

 
   



 
 

DropCar, Inc., and Subsidiaries
PROFORMA Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
(Unaudited)

 

  AYRO, Inc.   DropCar, Inc.   

Pro Forma
Adjustments

for Disposition   
Pro Forma

As Adjusted   

Pro Forma
Adjustments

for AYRO
Reverse

Acquisition   
Pro Forma

Results  
                   
REVENUES  $ 890,152  $ -  $ -  $ 890,152  $ -  $ 890,152 
                         
COST OF REVENUE   691,843   -   -   691,843   -   691,843 
                         
GROSS PROFIT (LOSS)   198,309   -   -   198,309   -   198,309 
                         
OPERATING EXPENSES                         

Research and development expenses   714,280   205,000   (205,000)(1)   714,280   -   714,280 
Sales and marketing expenses   1,300,119   718,345   (718,345)(1)   1,300,119   -   1,300,119 
General and administrative expenses   6,678,312   1,553,814   -   8,232,126   1,755,439(2)   9,987,565 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES   8,692,711   2,477,160   (923,345)   10,246,525   1,755,439   12,001,964 
                         

OPERATING LOSS   (8,494,402)   (2,477,160)   923,345   (10,048,216)   (1,755,439)   (11,803,655)
                         
Other income (expense), net   (170,291)   -   -   (170,291)       (170,291)
                         

LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS   (8,664,693)   (2,477,160)   923,345   (10,218,507)   (1,755,439)   (11,973,946)
                         
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS                         

Income (loss) from operations of discontinued component   -   (2,425,223)   2,425,223(1)   -   -   - 
Loss on sale of component   -   -   -   -   -   - 

INCOME (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS   -   (2,425,223)   2,425,223   -   -   - 
                         
NET LOSS  $ (8,664,693)  $ (4,902,383)  $ 3,348,568  $ (10,218,507)  $ (1,755,439)  $ (11,973,946)
                         
Deemed dividend on exchange of warrants   -   (57,875)   -   (57,875)   -   (57,875)
                         
NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS  $ (8,664,693)  $ (4,960,258)  $ 3,348,568  $ (10,276,382)  $ (1,755,439)  $ (12,031,821)
                         
AMOUNTS ATTRIBUTABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS                         

Loss from continuing operations  $ (8,664,693)  $ (2,535,035)  $ 923,345  $ (10,276,382)  $ (1,755,439)  $ (12,031,821)
Loss from discontinued operations   -   (2,425,223)   2,425,223   -   -   - 

NET LOSS  $ (8,664,693)  $ (4,960,258)  $ 3,348,568  $ (10,276,382)  $ (1,755,439)  $ (12,031,821)
                         
LOSS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS:                         

Basic  $ (0.81)  $ (0.72)              $ (0.87)
Diluted  $ (0.81)  $ (0.72)              $ (0.87)

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE FROM DISCONTINUED
OPERATIONS:                         

Basic  $ -  $ (0.68)              $ - 
Diluted  $ -  $ (0.68)              $ - 

NET LOSS PER SHARE:                         
Basic  $ (0.81)  $ (1.40)              $ (0.87)
Diluted  $ (0.81)  $ (1.40)              $ (0.87)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING
                        

Basic   10,655,957   3,541,511               13,833,347 
Diluted   10,655,957   3,541,511               13,833,347 

 
 



 
 

Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
 

1. Description of the Transaction and Basis of Pro Forma Presentation
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America and pursuant to the rules and regulations of SEC Regulation S-X, and present the pro forma financial position and results of operations of the surviving company based
upon the historical data of DropCar and Ayro, after giving effect to the merger.

 
Proposed Merger

 
Pursuant to the merger agreement, a wholly owned subsidiary of DropCar will be merged with and into Ayro, with Ayro continuing after the merger as the surviving

corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of DropCar. DropCar will issue to Ayro stockholders 1.3634 shares of DropCar common stock per share of Ayro common stock,
pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement. On a pro forma basis, based upon the number of shares of DropCar common stock expected to be issued in the merger
(including in respect of outstanding Ayro options and warrants), (i) current DropCar stockholders and their designees will own approximately 20% of the combined company
and current Ayro stockholders and their designees will own approximately 80% of the combined company, in each case excluding the shares to be held in escrow to secure
indemnification obligations.

 
Treatment of Stock Options and Warrants in the Merger

 
All Ayro stock options granted under the Ayro stock option plans (whether or not then exercisable) that are outstanding prior to the effective time of the merger will convert

into options to purchase DropCar common stock, retaining their same vesting schedules. All warrants to purchase shares of Ayro capital stock that are outstanding prior to the
effective time of the merger will be cancelled. At the effective time of the merger, the warrants will be converted into and exchangeable for warrants to purchase shares of
DropCar common stock equal to the number of shares Ayro common stock issuable upon exercise of such warrants multiplied by the Exchange Ratio with an exercise price
equal to the exercise price of such warrants divided by the Exchange Ratio. After the effective time, all outstanding and unexercised Ayro stock options assumed by DropCar
may be exercised solely for shares of DropCar common stock. The number of shares of DropCar common stock subject to each Ayro stock option assumed by DropCar shall be
determined by multiplying (a) the number of shares of Ayro common stock that were subject to such Ayro stock option, as in effect immediately prior to the effective time of
the merger by (b) the Exchange Ratio, as defined in the merger agreement, and rounding the resulting number down to the nearest whole number of shares of DropCar common
stock. The per share exercise price for the DropCar common stock issuable upon exercise of each Ayro stock options assumed by DropCar shall be determined by dividing (x)
the per share exercise price of Ayro common stock subject to such Ayro stock option, as in effect immediately prior to the effective time of the merger, by (y) the Exchange
Ratio and rounding the resulting exercise price up to the nearest whole cent. Refer to the section entitled “Merger Agreement — Effects of Merger; Merger Consideration”
elsewhere in this joint proxy and consent solicitation statement/prospectus for further information regarding the exchange ratio.

 
Vesting of most DropCar equity awards issued and outstanding will be accelerated to 100% at the Effective Time of the merger, and all such equity awards issued and

outstanding at the time of the merger will remain issued and outstanding. For accounting purposes, since the awards become fully vested contemporaneously with the
consummation of the merger, any remaining unrecognized compensation cost associated with the original grant date fair value of the awards would be recognized in DropCar’s
precombination financial statements.

 
As a condition to the Closing, DropCar is obligated to raise $2 million, in equity financing (the “Merger Financing”) and/or convertible debt financing. The Merger

Financing is expected to close immediately prior to or simultaneously with the Closing. In addition, the consummation of the Merger is subject to customary conditions,
including, without limitation, (a) approval by the DropCar and Ayro stockholders of the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby; (b) the absence of any
law, order, injunction or other legal restraint prohibiting the Merger; and (c) receipt of approval from NASDAQ to list the shares of DropCar common stock on The NASDAQ
Capital Market post-Merger. Moreover, each party’s obligation to consummate the Merger is subject to certain other conditions, including, without limitation, (i) the accuracy
of the other party’s representations and warranties (subject to customary qualifiers), and (ii) the other party’s compliance with its covenants and agreements contained in the
Merger Agreement (subject to customary qualifiers). The Merger Agreement contains specified termination rights for both the DropCar and Ayro, and further provides that,
upon termination of the Merger Agreement under specified circumstances, either party may be required to pay the other party a termination fee of  $1,000,000, which, under
specified circumstances, may include reimbursement for various expenses incurred in connection with the proposed Merger. On May 27, 2020, holders of a majority of
outstanding shares for both DropCar and AYRO approved the Merger Agreement and associated transactions. On May 28, 2020, the combined companies received approval to
list its shares on the NASDAQ Capital Market. Additionally, on May 28, 2020, the board of directors for both DropCar and AYRO approved the Merger in full.
 
 



 
 
Notes to merger proforma adjustments
 
The following pro forma adjustments are based on preliminary estimates, which may change significantly as additional information is obtained:
 
 (1) Investment in Ayro of $2,000,000, plus closing cash of $2,500,000, included as part of the merger and stock purchase agreements;
 

   Par Value  $ 0.0001     
             

   Shares    
Common Stock par

value    

Effect of 1:10
Reverse Split and
1:1 stock dividend  

Proforma Adjustments for Reverse Acquisition             
DropCar Common outstanding as of March 31, 2020   4,551,882  $ 455  $ (364)
             
DropCar - Share Adjustment to Transfer Agent records   (1,377)  $ (0)  $ (0)
DropCar - Conversion of 21,689 shares of H6 Preferred shares in
April/May 2020   2,193,900  $ 219  $ 43 
DropCar - Conversion of H6 Warrants to 1,773,621 common shares in
April-May2020   2,233,333  $ 223  $ 45 
DropCar - Director grants of 191,056 common shares - May 2020   191,056  $ 19  $ 4 
DropCar - Prior principals’ stock grants of 125,000 common shares -
May 2020   125,000  $ 13  $ 3 
DropCar - Conversion of 5,028 shares of H-4 Preferred Stock
multiplied by the stated value of 235.50 divided by the $0.50 conversion
price adjustment   2,368,188  $ 237  $ 47 
DropCar - Conversion of 7,883 shares of H-6 Preferred Stock at 100:1   788,300  $ 79  $ 16 
Issuance of 2,075,003 shares of DropCar common stock for investment
banking services upon closing of merger   2,075,003  $ 208  $ 42 
Issuance of 16,600,014 shares of DropCar common stock for merger
funding   16,600,014  $ 1,660  $ 332 
Conversion of 16,508,023 shares of AYRO Common Stock multiplied
by Exchange Ratio of 1.3634   22,507,040  $ 2,251  $ 450 
Conversion of 3,272,500 shares of AYRO Series Seed 1 Preferred
Stock to AYRO Common Stock (1:1), multiplied by Exchange Ratio of
1.3634 for conversion to DropCar Common Stock   4,461,727  $ 446  $ 89 
Conversion of 1,907,682 shares of AYRO Series Seed 2 Preferred
Stock to AYRO Common Stock (1:1), multiplied by Exchange Ratio of
1.3634 for conversion to DropCar Common Stock   2,600,934  $ 260  $ 52 
Conversion of 2,180,803 shares of AYRO Series Seed 3 Preferred
Stock to AYRO Common Stock (1:1), multiplied by Exchange Ratio of
1.3634 for conversion to DropCar Common Stock   2,973,308  $ 297  $ 59 
Issuance upon merger closing of 2,282,881 shares of AYRO Common
Stock to an advisor multiplied by Exchange Ratio of 1.3634 for
conversion to DropCar Common Stock   3,112,480  $ 311  $ 62 
Issuance upon merger closing of 1,750,000 shares of AYRO Common
Stock under a nominal stock agreement to investor as compensation for
bridge funding multiplied by Exchange Ratio of 1.3634 for conversion
to DropCar Common Stock   2,385,950  $ 239  $ 48 
      $ -  $ - 
             
Total Proforma Adjustments for Reverse Acquisition   69,166,734  $ 6,917  $ 928 
Common Shares outstanding post 1:10 reverse split and 1:1 stock
dividend   13,833,347          

 
 (2) AYRO - Bridge debt of $1,000,000 converted to equity upon closing;
 (3) AYRO - Bridge debt of $500,000 repaid upon closing;
 (4) Adjustment for discontinued operations, research & development and sales & marketing initiatives ceased upon merger close;
 (5) Stock-based compensation expense for advisor granted common stock 3,112,480 shares x $0.92/sh (current price).
 
 



 
 

Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements
 

2. Accounting Policies and Merger Pro Forma Adjustments
 

Based on Ayro’s review of DropCar’s summary of significant accounting policies disclosed in DropCar’s financial statements, the nature and amount of any adjustments to
the historical financial statements of DropCar to conform its accounting policies to those of Ayro are not expected to be significant.

 
 


